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PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NI 31-103 AND ITS POLICY,
NI 33-109 AND OSC RULE 33-506
(INCLUDING RELATED FORMS)

CSA NOTICE AND REQUEST FOR COMMENT
PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS,
EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS,

COMPANION POLICY 31-103CP REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS,
EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS,

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 33-109 REGISTRATION INFORMATION

AND RELATED FORMS
July 7, 2016
Introduction

The Canadian Securities Administrators (the CSA or we) are seeking comments on proposals to amend the current regulatory
framework for dealers, advisers and investment fund managers.

We are proposing amendments, which range from technical adjustments to more substantive matters. We have organized the
proposed amendments into four tranches, specifically “Custody Amendments”, “Exempt Market Dealer Amendments”, “Client
Relationship Model Phase 2 Amendments” and “Housekeeping Amendments”, each of which is described below. The purpose
of these proposed amendments is to promote stronger investor protection, to clarify certain regulatory requirements and to
enhance certain market efficiencies.

The instruments affected by these proposed amendments are as follows:

. National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations (NI
31-103), including Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital (Form 31-103F1),

. Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations
(31-103CP), and

) National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information (NI 33-109), including its appended forms (33-109
Forms).

In this Notice, we may refer to NI 31-103, 31-103CP and NI 33-109 collectively as the “Instrument”.
Background

NI 31-103 came into force on September 28, 2009 and introduced a harmonized, streamlined and modernized national
registration regime. Since implementation, we have monitored the operation of the Instrument and have engaged in continuing
dialogue with stakeholders with a view to further enhancing the regime.

On March 28, 2013, the CSA published amendments to NI 31-103 and 31-103CP, which introduced new requirements for client
reporting (the 2013 CRM2 Amendments). The 2013 CRM2 Amendments are being phased in over a three-year period. On
October 16, 2014, the CSA published further amendments to NI 31-103, 31-103CP and related instruments, which clarified the
operation of certain provisions of the Instrument (the October 2014 Amendments and, together with the 2013 CRM2
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Amendments, the Previous Amendments). With certain exceptions, the October 2014 Amendments became effective on

January 11, 2015.

Following the publication of the Previous Amendments, we have continued to monitor the operation of the Instrument and its
impact on stakeholders. We have also considered how the custody requirements in NI 31-103 may be enhanced. We are now
proposing further amendments as described below.

Substance and purpose

The proposed amendments include proposals to:

enhance custody requirements applicable to registered firms that are not members of the Investment Industry
Regulatory Organization of Canada (IIROC) or the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada (MFDA)
(collectively, Non-SRO Firms) in order to:

o address potential intermediary risks when Non-SRO Firms are involved in the custody of client
assets,

o enhance the protection of client assets, and

o codify existing custodial best practices of Non-SRO Firms,

clarify the activities that may be conducted under the exempt market dealer category of registration in respect
of trades in prospectus-qualified securities,

make permanent certain temporary relief granted by the CSA in May 2015 relating to the 2013 CRM2
Amendments, as described in CSA Staff Notice 31-341 Omnibus/Blanket Orders Exempting Registrants from
Certain CRM2 Provisions of National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing
Registrant Obligations (CSA Staff Notice 31-341), and also add guidance to 31-103CP regarding the delivery
of information required by the 2013 CRM2 Amendments, and

incorporate other changes to the Instrument of a minor housekeeping nature.

We invite comments on all of the proposed amendments, particularly on the issues for comment that are set out in shaded
boxes in this Notice.

The comment period will end on October 5, 2016.

Contents of this Notice

This Notice consists of the following sections:

1. Summary and purpose of the proposed amendments to NI 31-103, 31-103CP and Form 31-103F1
2. Summary and purpose of the proposed amendments to NI 33-109 and the 33-109 Forms

3. Alternatives considered

4. Anticipated costs and benefits

5. Request for comments

6. Where to find more information

This Notice includes the following annexes:

Annex A — Proposed amendments to National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and
Ongoing Registrant Obligations

Annex B — National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant
Obligations, blacklined to show the proposed changes to the current NI 31-103 under the proposed
amendments

Annex C — Companion Policy 31-103CP Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant
Obligations, blacklined to show the proposed changes to the current 31-103CP under the proposed
amendments

July 7, 2016
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o Annex D — Proposed amendments to National Instrument 33-709 Registration Information

. Annex E — National Instrument 33-109 Registration Information, blacklined to show the proposed changes to
the current NI 33-109 under the proposed amendments

. Annex F — Local matters
1. Summary and purpose of the proposed amendments to NI 31-103, 31-103CP and Form 31-103F1
The following summarizes the proposed amendments and identifies specific issues for comment.
Custody Amendments
Safety of client assets is a fundamental element of the CSA’s investor protection mandate. Current custody requirements under
NI 31-103 focus primarily on the segregation of client assets and do not establish a detailed custodial regime. There are no
specific requirements in NI 31-103 for Canadian resident Non-SRO Firms as to where and how client assets or investment fund
assets are to be held. There are also no restrictions on self-custody (i.e., registered firms acting as custodian or sub-custodian)
or the use of a non-independent custodian to hold client assets or investment fund assets.

The Custody Amendments include proposals to:

. require registered firms to ensure that a “qualified custodian” is used to hold securities and cash of a client or
an investment fund in certain circumstances,

. with some exceptions, prohibit self-custody by registered firms and prohibit the use of a custodian that is not
functionally independent of the registered firm,

. require registered firms to confirm how the securities and cash of a client or an investment fund are being held
by a qualified custodian,

. require registered firms to disclose to clients where and how client assets are held or accessed, and
. amend Part 9, Appendix G and Appendix H of NI 31-103 in order to exclude IIROC and MFDA members from
these custodial requirements on the condition that they comply with the corresponding IIROC or MFDA

provisions applicable to them.

The Custody Amendments include exceptions for the following circumstances, among others:

. IIROC and MFDA members that comply with the corresponding IIROC or MFDA provisions that are applicable
to them,
. investment funds subject to National Instrument 81-102 Investment Funds (NI 81-102) or National Instrument

41-101 General Prospectus Requirements (NI 41-101), and

. customer collateral subject to custodial requirements under proposed National Instrument 94-102 Derivatives:
Customer Clearing and Protection of Customer Collateral and Positions, published for comment on January
21, 2016.

In addition, we anticipate that further exclusions from the new requirements under the Custody Amendments will be included in
NI 31-103 (via consequential amendments) as additional derivatives legislation is implemented in the future.

As mentioned above, the Custody Amendments are designed to address intermediary risks when registered firms are involved
in the custody of client assets, and are applicable to investment fund managers, dealers and advisers. Prospectus-qualified
investment funds will continue to be subject to the custodial requirements under NI 81-102 and NI 41-101, as applicable. The
Custody Amendments differ in some respects from the custodial requirements applicable to prospectus-qualified investment
funds. This reflects the differences in the current regulatory frameworks for prospectus-qualified and prospectus-exempt
investment funds as well as the differences in existing business practices.

Although a registered firm may have directed or arranged a custodial relationship for their clients in the past, we do not expect
the proposed subsection 14.5.2(2) of NI 31-103 to apply retroactively. Unlike access to client assets, directing or arranging a
custodial relationship is an activity that is not ongoing. However, the proposed paragraphs 14.2(2)(a.1) and 14.2(2)(a.2) of NI
31-103 require a registered firm to provide certain disclosure regarding where and how client assets are held and accessed.
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Therefore, we expect registered firms that have directed or arranged the custodial relationship for their clients in the past to
inform their clients of the new custodial requirements. In cases where the custodian that was arranged in the past does not meet
the requirements of the Custody Amendments, the registered firm should make its client aware of this fact, and direct that client
to an alternative custodian that meets the requirements of the Custody Amendments.

If necessary, we will update the references to IIROC and MFDA provisions in the appendices to NI 31-103 so that at the time the
Custody Amendments come into force, we refer to the most current corresponding IIROC and MFDA provisions.

We are proposing a six-month transition period for the Custody Amendments.

Issue for comment:

We would like feedback on the following:

Proposed section 14.5.2 of 31-103CP includes guidance for investment fund managers in respect of key terms that they should
consider when entering into a written custodial agreement on behalf of the investment funds managed by them.

(1) We invite specific comment on whether this guidance is sufficiently clear and whether it would be helpful when negotiating
contract terms with custodians for investment funds that are not subject to NI 81-102 and NI 41-101. Should there instead be
prescribed key terms for custodial agreements in NI 31-103, similar to the requirements found in NI 81-102 and NI 41-101? In
particular, should there be a requirement for such custodial agreements to include a prescribed standard of care and
responsibility for loss for the custodian?

Exempt Market Dealer Amendments

In connection with the October 2014 Amendments, the CSA published advance notice of possible amendments to NI 31-103 to
restrict the activities that exempt market dealers may conduct. Specifically, we indicated that we would examine further what
activities an exempt market dealer should be permitted to conduct and may propose further amendments, including in respect of
the dealer exemption for advisers trading in prospectus-qualified securities of affiliated investment funds. We have now
completed the required work and are proposing the following changes to NI 31-103:

. remove the words “whether or not a prospectus was filed in respect of the distribution” from subparagraph
7.1(2)(d)(i), to clarify that exempt market dealers may not participate in offerings of securities under
prospectuses in any capacity, including as underwriters and selling group members; this includes securities
underlying special warrants that are qualified by a prospectus,

. revise and clarify the activities that exempt market dealers may engage in with respect to the resale of
securities,
. the restriction currently found in subsection 7.1(5) that restricts exempt market dealers from trading in

securities whose classes are listed, quoted or traded on a marketplace, whether on-exchange or off-
exchange, can now be found in subparagraph 7.1(2)(d)(ii), and

. expand the exemption from the dealer registration requirement in section 8.6 so that registered advisers may
trade in the securities of investment funds (including, as is the case today, those distributed under a
prospectus) if the adviser or an affiliate manages the investment fund and certain conditions are met.

The proposed amendment to section 8.6 would broaden the exemption from dealer registration for advisers that use affiliated
investment funds as an efficient way to invest their clients' money.

We also propose to revise 31-103CP to clarify matters relating to these changes.

Issues for comment:

We would like feedback on the following:

(2) If you are an adviser that is also registered as an exempt market dealer, are you currently using your dealer registration to
distribute securities of reporting issuers, either to managed accounts or to other client accounts? If so, please indicate the types
of securities (i.e., securities of investment funds or non-investment funds, whether listed or otherwise).

(3) Will advisers use the proposed section 8.6 to distribute prospectus-qualified securities of investment funds, including mutual
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funds, directly? Are the conditions of this exemption appropriate? If not, why not?

Client Relationship Model Phase 2 Amendments

Background
On March 28, 2013, the CSA published the 2013 CRM2 Amendments to be implemented over three years. IROC and the

MFDA have since adopted amendments to their respective member rules that are materially harmonized with the 2013 CRM2
Amendments.

In May 2015, CSA members issued parallel relief orders (the CRM2 Orders) to address each of the following:

) decisions made by the CSA with regard to requests for more time to implement certain of the 2013 CRM2
Amendments,

. certain technical issues that had been identified relating to the delivery of the information required by the 2013
CRM2 Amendments,

. relief from the requirement to identify securities that may be covered under an investor protection fund, and

. relief for IROC and MFDA members from certain 2013 CRM2 Amendments, if they comply with the

corresponding IIROC or MFDA provisions then in effect.
The CRM2 Orders are described in detail in CSA Staff Notice 31-341.

We are now proposing that NI 31-103 be amended to make permanent certain temporary relief granted by the CRM2 Orders by
incorporating the substance of the temporary relief into NI 31-103. Any differences between the relief provided by the CRM2
Orders and the proposed amendments are the result of drafting conventions and we are of the view that the proposed
amendments achieve the same results as the CRM2 Orders.

We also propose to revise NI 31-103 and 31-103CP to address matters that have arisen in the course of implementing the 2013
CRM2 Amendments, as set out below.

Relief for IROC and MFDA members from certain 2013 CRM2 Amendments

We propose to revise sections 9.3 [exemptions from certain requirements for IROC members] and 9.4 [exemptions from certain
requirements for MFDA members] and Appendices G and H of NI 31-103 to:

. codify the exemptions described in CSA Staff Notice 31-341 for IROC and MFDA members, and

. grant additional exemptions from certain requirements of NI 31-103 to IIROC and MFDA members where
IIROC and MFDA rules adequately address the same regulatory risks.

The addition of exemptions to sections 9.3 and 9.4 is the result of conforming amendments to IIROC and MFDA member rules
coming into force.

Section 13.17 [exemption from certain requirements for registered sub-advisers] of NI 31-103

We propose to revise section 13.17 of NI 31-103 to add exemptions from certain 2013 CRM2 Amendments for a registered
adviser who is acting as a sub-adviser to a registered adviser or registered dealer. These reporting requirements may not be
necessary in a sub-advisory arrangement, or if necessary, are customized to the relevant business needs and agreed to
contractually.

Section 14.1.1 [duty to provide information] of NI 31-103 and Division 1 of Part 4 of 31-103CP

We propose to revise section 14.1.1 of NI 31-103, which is scheduled to come into force on July 15, 2016, and Division 1 of Part
14 of 31-103CP, to clarify the requirement for investment fund managers to provide dealers and advisers with certain
information.

Section 14.2 [relationship disclosure information] of 31-103CP.

We propose additional guidance to set out our expectations about disclosure when a firm primarily invests its clients’ money in
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securities of related issuers. We expect the disclosure to include information about commissions paid by issuers and bonuses
received from affiliated companies, as well as general information about management fees associated with mutual funds.

Section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure of charges] of 31-103CP

We propose additional guidance to set out our expectations in the case of a client who is a frequent trader.

Subsection 14.11.1(3) [determining market value] of 31-103

The current subsection 14.11.1(3) is being replaced on July 15, 2016 by revised language shown in the text box in the blackline.
We propose to revise subsection 14.11.1(3), which is scheduled to come into force on July 15, 2016, to remove references to
section 14.18 and subsection 14.19(1) of NI 31-103. Subsection 14.19(7) addresses the procedure to follow if market value
cannot be determined when calculating the information required to be delivered in the investment performance reports.

Section 14.11.1 [determining market value] of 31-103CP

We propose additional guidance with regard to the basis on which market value is to be determined for client reporting
purposes.

Section 14.14 [account statements] of NI 31-103 and section 14.14 of 31-103CP

We propose to revise subsection 14.14(4) of NI 31-103 to clarify that dividend and interest payments must be disclosed in
account statements. We also propose additional guidance in 31-103CP regarding supplementary reporting in addition to the
required account statements.

Investor Protection Fund Disclosure

We propose to revise paragraphs 14.14(5)(f) [account statements] and 14.14.1(2)(g) [additional statements] of 31-103 to clarify
the required investor protection fund disclosure.

We also propose a new subsection (2.1) to section 14.14.1 [additional statements] of NI 31-103, and guidance to 31-103CP, to
specify that the investor protection fund disclosure required by paragraph 14.14.1(2)(g) does not apply when:

. the party holding the securities is required, under section 14.14 of NI 31-103, or under an IIROC or MFDA
rule, to deliver an account statement to the client, and

. such statement includes disclosure regarding the applicable investor protection fund.

This addition is being made in order to avoid the potential that a client might receive inaccurate information about the extent of
investor protection fund coverage from a registered firm that is not itself a member of the fund.

Section 14.14.2 [position cost information] of NI 31-103 and section 14.14.2 of 31-103CP

We propose to revise section 14.14.2 to allow a firm to disclose, for a security position that was opened before July 15, 2015,
market value as at December 31, 2015, or an earlier date, if that earlier date is reasonable based on certain criteria. We also
propose additional guidance to 31-103CP with respect to these proposed amendments.

Section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation] of 31-103CP

We propose additional guidance about disclosure of a firm’s operating charges and payments from issuers of securities.

Section 14.19 [content of investment performance report] of NI 31-103 and section 14.19 of 31-103CP.

We propose to revise section 14.19 so that the requirement that investment performance reports must include market value
information as at and since July 15, 2015, if the account was opened before July 15, 2015, may instead be met as follows:

. where the firm reports on a calendar year basis (i.e., its first reports will cover the period from January 1 to
December 31, 2016), by including market value information as at and since January 1, 2016 (the firm is not
required to provide the information for any earlier period), or a date earlier than January 1, 2016 if that earlier
date is reasonable based on certain criteria; and

. where the firm does not report on a calendar year basis (e.g., its first reports will cover the period from July 15,
2016 to July 14, 2017), by including market value information as at and since July 15, 2015, or a date earlier
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than July 15, 2015 if that earlier date is reasonable based on certain criteria.
We also propose to revise section 14.19 so that the requirement that investment performance reports must include annualized
total percentage return information since inception or for the period since July 15, 2015 may instead be met as follows, if the
account was opened before July 15, 2015:

. where the firm reports on a calendar year basis, by providing the information for the period since January 1,
2016, or a date earlier than January 1, 2016 if that earlier date is reasonable based on certain criteria; and

. where the firm does not report on a calendar year basis, by providing the information for the period since July
15, 2015, or a date earlier than July 15, 2015 if that earlier date is reasonable based on certain criteria.

We also propose additional guidance to 31-103CP with respect to these proposed amendments.

Issues for comment:

Section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation]

The annual report on charges and other compensation requires disclosure of the amounts paid to the registered dealer or
registered adviser that provides the report. This disclosure shows the client the costs and incentives related to their investment
account.

(4) Non-cash incentives

The report does not extend to non-cash incentives that may be paid to the dealer or adviser and its representatives, such as
promotions or other employment benefits, for sales of certain products. We are considering ways of making clients aware of
these kinds of incentives.

We invite specific comments on the potential usefulness of adding a new requirement that, where a firm or its representatives
received or may receive incentives not captured by the existing provisions, the annual report must specifically list all additional
sales incentives and must include prescribed text to the following effect: “In addition to the payments specified in this report,
[the firm] or its representatives may also receive other sales incentives related to the securities that you have purchased
through us. These incentives can influence representatives to recommend one investment over another”.

(5) Embedded fee disclosure

The report does not extend to the ongoing costs of owning securities with embedded fees paid to issuers, such as mutual fund
management fees. We are considering ways of making clients more aware of such fees.

We invite specific comment on the potential usefulness of adding a general notification in the annual report that would remind
clients invested in mutual funds, or other securities with embedded fees about the following:

. management fees are paid to the issuer, whether or not the dealer or adviser receives any trailing
commissions or other payments tied to those fees, and

. these fees may reduce the client’s investment returns.

Housekeeping Amendments

We are also proposing certain minor amendments of a housekeeping nature to NI 31-103 and 31-103CP that are shown in the
corresponding blacklines and, in many cases, reflect clarifying drafting changes.

Changes to reflect Local Amendments in Alberta

The proposed amendments to NI 31-103 include (with some minor additional clarification) Alberta-specific changes that have
already been adopted in Alberta (as well as New Brunswick and Québec) and are identified in the March 12, 2015 CSA Staff
Notice 11-328 Notice of Local Amendments in Alberta and the Adoption of Multilateral Amendments in Yukon (CSA Staff Notice
11-328). These Alberta-specific changes reflect amendments to the Securities Act (Alberta) (Alberta Act) that were made on
October 31, 2014 to create a framework for derivatives regulation. As CSA Staff Notice 11-328 explained, the Alberta Act was
amended to add a definition of “derivatives” and replace throughout the Alberta Act, where necessary, the terms “exchange
contract” and “futures contract” with the term “derivative.”
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These Albt?rta-specific changes (with minor clarification) are shown in sections 1.2, 8.2, 8.20, 8.20.1 and 8.26 of the blackline for
NI 31-103.

Changes relating to firms registered in Québec in the mutual fund dealer category

Delivery of financial information

We are proposing changes to the delivery of financial information requirements applicable to firms registered in Québec in the
mutual fund dealer category, as follows:

. section 12.12 [delivering financial information — dealer] of NI 31-103 would be made applicable in Québec
notwithstanding subsection 9.4(4). That subsection would be amended by providing that paragraph 9.4(1)(h)
applies to a mutual fund dealer in Québec,

. section 12.12 itself would be amended to allow a mutual fund dealer registered in Québec, that is not a
member of the MFDA and that is not registered in any other category, to deliver to the regulatory authority the
Monthly Report on Net Free Capital provided in Appendix | of the Regulation respecting the trust accounts and
financial resources of securities firms that shows the calculation of the firm’s net free capital as at the end of
the prescribed period. This would provide an option to mutual fund dealers in Québec to provide only one
calculation of their regulatory capital,

. since section 12.12 would be made applicable, mutual fund dealers registered in Québec that are members of
the MFDA would benefit from the exemption provided in subsection (2.1) and deliver the MFDA Form 1 MFDA
Financial Questionnaire and Report, on the same terms and conditions as MFDA member firms outside
Québec, and

. Line 10 of Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital would be amended to provide the deduction
of a deductible under the firm’s liability insurance instead of the bonding or insurance required under Part 12
of NI 31-103 for mutual fund dealers registered only in Québec and solely in that category.

Impact of custody amendments

It is important for firms registered in Québec in the mutual fund dealer category to note that the Custody Amendments would
prohibit them from holding securities and cash in nominee name.

The Autorité des marchés financiers is seeking comments on these amendments and their impact.

International adviser exemption

The proposed amendment to the adviser registration exemption in subsection 8.26(3) [international adviser] of NI 31-103 will
clarify that the relevant advice to a permitted client must be in relation to a foreign security, and cannot be in relation to
securities that are not foreign securities (unless providing that advice is incidental to providing advice on a foreign security).

Schedule 1 to Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital

The proposed amendment to paragraph (2)(a)(i) will replace the present references to specific rating organizations with a
reference to “designated rating organization” (which is defined in section 1.1 of NI 31-103 to have the same meaning as in NI
81-102). This will have the effect of including certain additional rating organizations.

2. Summary and purpose of the proposed amendments to NI 33-109 and the 33-109 Forms

The following summarizes the proposed amendments.

Form 33-109F6

Firms that are seeking registration under securities legislation, derivatives legislation or both are required to complete and
submit a Form 33-109F6 Firm Registration.

Please note that the blackline shows changes to current law and does not reflect the anticipated adoption by Alberta, New
Brunswick and Saskatchewan of the local amendments referred to in footnote 2 of Annex A.
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Iltem 4.2 [Exemption from securities registration] of Form 33-109F6 requires the firm to provide information on exemptions from
registration or licensing to trade or advise in securities or derivatives that the firm is currently relying on. The proposed
amendment to Item 4.2 of Form 33-109F6 would eliminate the requirement to provide this in the Form if the firm has already
notified the securities regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority, in accordance with the applicable exemption.

Preconditions to the use of Form 33-109F7

As explained in section 2.5 of Companion Policy 33-109CP Registration Information, when an individual leaves a sponsoring
firm and joins a new registered firm, they may submit a Form 33-109F7 Reinstatement of Registered Individuals and Permitted
Individuals to have their registration or permitted individual status automatically reinstated in one or more of the same categories
and jurisdictions as before, subject to all of the conditions specified in subsection 2.3(2) or 2.5(2) of NI 33-109.

Among the specified conditions is a requirement in subparagraph 2.3(2)(c)(i) that, after the individual's cessation date, there
have been no changes to the information previously submitted in respect of Item 13 [Regulatory disclosure] of the individual's
Form 33-109F4 Registration of Individuals and Review of Permitted Individuals, other than in respect of Item 13.3(c). We have
reconsidered the exception for information in respect of ltem 13.3(c), and are now proposing that the present reference to Item
13.3(c) be revised to instead refer to ltem 13.3(a), with corresponding changes to Form 33-109F7 in the General Instructions
and Item 9.1.

3. Alternatives considered
The alternatives considered, depending upon the amendment, were to:

. issue staff guidance to clarify regulatory expectations for registered firms and promote best practices, or

. grant discretionary exemptions.
The CSA has concluded that these matters are best addressed through rule-making.
4. Anticipated costs and benefits
Custody Amendments
The Custody Amendments will make custodial requirements applicable to registered firms more clear while at the same time
strengthening our regulatory regime and enhancing investor protection. They will provide CSA staff with a more precise
regulatory tool to use when we identify improper custodial practices.
We do not expect that the Custody Amendments will have a significant impact on a client’s choice of custodian given that the
maijority of the custodians currently used by clients of registered firms would meet the definition of a “qualified custodian”. We
expect that the Custody Amendments will have minimal impact on most registered firms as we understand that the Custody
Amendments generally codify existing business practices.
EMD Amendments
The CSA stated in the notice of final amendments for the October 2014 Amendments that, as a general matter, we think the
appropriate dealer registration category for participating in prospectus offerings is the investment dealer category. We further
stated in this notice of final amendments that we do not think, as a matter of policy, it makes sense to allow the exempt market
dealer category to develop further into a competing platform for issuers that wish to make prospectus offerings. The proposed
amendments are consistent with this previously communicated expectation of how exempt market dealers should be operating
and, as such, we expect the impact on registered firms will be limited.
Client Relationship Model Phase 2 Amendments
The Client Relationship Model Phase 2 Amendments make permanent certain of the temporary relief granted by the CSA as
described in CSA Staff Notice 31-341, and add guidance regarding the delivery of information required by the 2013 CRM2
Amendments. For this reason, we do not expect that there will be any significant impact on registered firms.

5. Request for comments

We would like your input on the proposed amendments. Please include a prominent reference to the subject matter of your
comments. For example, please include a subject line similar to the following: “RE: Custody Amendments”.
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We cannot keep submissions confidential because securities legislation in certain provinces requires publication of a summary
of the written comments received during the comment period. All comments will be posted on the Ontario Securities
Commission website at www.osc.gov.on.ca and on the Autorité des marchés financiers website at www.lautorite.qc.ca.

Thank you in advance for your comments.

Deadline for comments

Your comments must be submitted in writing by October 5, 2016.
Please send your comments electronically in Word, Windows format.
Where to send your comments

Please address your comments to all CSA members, as follows:

British Columbia Securities Commission

Alberta Securities Commission

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
The Manitoba Securities Commission

Ontario Securities Commission

Autorité des marchés financiers

Financial and Consumer Services Commission of New Brunswick
Registrar of Securities, Prince Edward Island

Nova Scotia Securities Commission

Superintendent of Securities, Newfoundland and Labrador
Registrar of Securities, Northwest Territories
Superintendent of Securities, Yukon Territory

Registrar of Securities, Nunavut

Please send your comments by email only to the following representatives of the following CSA member jurisdictions below.
Your comments will be forwarded to the other CSA member jurisdictions.

Robert Blair, Secretary (Acting)
Ontario Securities Commission

20 Queen Street West, Suite 2200
Toronto, ON M5H 3S8

Fax: 416-593-2390

E-mail: comments@osc.gov.on.ca

Me Anne-Marie Beaudoin

Corporate Secretary

Autorité des marchés financiers

800, square Victoria, 22e étage

C.P. 246, tour de la Bourse

Montréal (Québec) H4Z 1G3

Fax : 514-864-6381

E-mail: consultation-en-cours@lautorite.qc.ca

Questions
Please refer your questions to any of the following:

Isaac Filate

Senior Legal Counsel

Capital Markets Regulation

British Columbia Securities Commission
604-899-6573

1-800-373-6393

ifilate@bcsc.bc.ca
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Anne Hamilton

Senior Legal Counsel

Capital Markets Regulation

British Columbia Securities Commission
604-899-6716

1-800-373-6393

ahamilton@bcsc.bc.ca

Navdeep Gill

Manager, Registration

Alberta Securities Commission
403-355-9043
navdeep.gill@asc.ca

Liz Kutarna

Deputy Director, Capital Markets

Securities Division

Financial and Consumer Affairs Authority of Saskatchewan
306-787-5871

liz.kutarna@gov.sk.ca

Chris Besko

Director, General Counsel

The Manitoba Securities Commission
204-945-2561 and 1-800-655-5244
(Toll Free (Manitoba only))
chris.besko@gov.mb.ca

Chris Jepson

Senior Legal Counsel

Compliance and Registrant Regulation
Ontario Securities Commission
416-593-2379

ciepson@osc.gov.on.ca

Jessica Leung

Senior Accountant

Compliance and Registrant Regulation
Ontario Securities Commission
416-593-8143

jleung@osc.gov.on.ca

Amy Tsai

Legal Counsel

Compliance and Registrant Regulation
Ontario Securities Commission
416-593-8074

atsai@osc.gov.on.ca

Sophie Jean

Directrice de 'encadrement des intermédiaires
Autorité des marchés financiers
514-395-0337, ext. 4801 or

1-877-525-0337

sophie.jean@lautorite.gc.ca

Brian W. Murphy

Deputy Director, Capital Markets
Nova Scotia Securities Commission
902-424-4592
murphybw@gov.ns.ca
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Jason Alcorn

Senior Legal Counsel, Securities

Financial and Consumer Services Commission (NB)
506-643-7857

jason.alcorn@fcnb.ca

Steven Dowling

Acting Director

Consumer, Labour and Financial Services Division
Justice and Public Safety

Government of Prince Edward Island
902-368-4551

sddowling@gov.pe.ca

John O’Brien

Superintendent of Securities

Service NL

Government of Newfoundland and Labrador
709-729-4909

johnobrien@gov.nl.ca

Jeff Mason

Director of Legal Registries

Department of Justice, Government of Nunavut
867-975-6591

jmason@gov.nu.ca

Thomas Hall

Superintendent of Securities
Department of Justice

Government of the Northwest Territories
867-767-9305

tom hall@gov.nt.ca

Rhonda Horte

Deputy Superintendent

Office of the Yukon Superintendent of Securities
867-667-5466

rhonda.horte@gov.yk.ca

6. Where to find more information

We are publishing the proposed amendments with this Notice, as well as a blackline version of the Instrument. The proposed
amendments are also available on websites of CSA members, including:

www.bcsc.bc.ca
www.albertasecurities.com
www.fcaa.gov.sk.ca
www.msc.gov.mb.ca
WWW.0SC.gov.on.ca
www.lautorite.qc.ca
WWW.gov.ns.ca/nssc
http://www.fcnb.ca
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ANNEX A

PROPOSED AMENDMENTS TO
NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS,
EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS" 2

1. National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations is
amended by this Instrument.

2, Section 1.1 is amended by adding the following definitions:
“Canadian custodian” means any of the following:
(a) a bank listed in Schedule |, Il or lll of the Bank Act (Canada);
(b) a trust company that is incorporated under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction and licensed or
registered under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction, and that has equity, as reported in its most

recent audited financial statements, of not less than $10,000,000;

(c) a company that is incorporated under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction, and that is an affiliate of a
bank or trust company referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), if either of the following applies:

0] the company has equity, as reported in its most recent audited financial statements, of not
less than $10,000,000;

(i) the bank or trust company has assumed responsibility for all of the custodial obligations of
the company for the cash and securities it holds for a client or investment fund;

(d) an investment dealer that is a member of IIROC and that is permitted under the rules of IIROC, as
amended from time to time, to hold the securities and cash of a client or investment fund;

“foreign custodian” means any of the following:
(a) an entity that

(i) is incorporated or organized under the laws of a country, or a political subdivision of a
country, other than Canada,

(ii) is regulated as a banking institution or trust company by the government, or an agency of
the government, of the country under the laws of which it is incorporated or organized, or a
political subdivision of that country, and

(iii) has equity, as reported in its most recent audited financial statements, of not less than the
equivalent of $100,000,000;
(b) an affiliate of an entity referred to in paragraph (a) or paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) of the definition of

“Canadian custodian” if either of the following applies:

(i) the affiliate has equity, as reported in its most recent audited financial statements, of not
less than the equivalent of $100,000,000;

The amendments referred to in ss. 7, 10, 12(a), and 12(b) of this proposed Amending Instrument are not being proposed for
Alberta, New Brunswick and Québec as these amendments have already been adopted in those jurisdictions.

The amendments have been prepared on the basis of the current law in each jurisdiction and do not reflect the adoption by
Alberta, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan of local amendments to National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements,
Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations that were published for comment by these jurisdictions on May 19, 2016.
These local amendments are set out in CSA Multilateral Notice and Request for Comment Proposed Amendments to
Certain National, Multilateral and Local Instruments and Proposed Changes to Companion Policy 31-103 Registration
Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations Related to Derivatives Regulation in Alberta, New
Brunswick and Saskatchewan. The anticipated adoption by these jurisdictions of these local amendments will necessitate
further conforming changes in the final version of this Amending Instrument.
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(i) the entity referred to in paragraph (a) or paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) of the definition of
“Canadian custodian” has assumed responsibility for all of the custodial obligations of the
affiliate for the cash and securities the affiliate holds for a client or investment fund;
“qualified custodian” means a Canadian custodian or a foreign custodian;.
3. Section 1.2 is amended by replacing it with the following:

(1) Subject to sections 8.2, 8.26 and 14.5.1, in British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, unless the
context otherwise requires, a reference to “securities” in this Instrument includes “exchange contracts.”

(2) Subject to sections 8.2, 8.26 and 14.5.1, in Alberta, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to
“securities” in this Instrument includes “derivatives”..

4. Section 3.16 is amended:

(a) in subsections (1) and (1.1) by replacing “a member of IIROC” with “an investment dealer that is a
member of IROC”, and

(b) in subsections (2) and (2.1) by adding, “a mutual fund dealer that is” before “a member of the MFDA”.
5. Paragraph 7.1(2)(d) is amended:
(a) in subparagraph (i) by deleting “whether or not a prospectus was filed in respect of the distribution,”, and
(b) by replacing subparagraph (ii) with the following:
(ii) act as a dealer by trading a security, if all of the following apply:
(A) the trade is not a distribution;

(B) an exemption from the prospectus requirement would be available to the seller if the trade
were a distribution;

(C) the class of security is not listed, quoted or traded on a marketplace, or.
6. Subsection 7.1(5) is repealed.
7. Section 8.2 is amended by renumbering it as subsection 8.2(1) and by deleting “Alberta,” and by adding the
following subsection:

(2) Despite section 1.2, in Alberta a reference to “securities” in this Division excludes derivatives which are traded
on an exchange pursuant to standardized terms determined by the exchange and cleared by a clearing
agency..

8. Subsection 8.6(1) is amended:

(a) by replacing “both” with “all”,
(b) in paragraph (a) by deleting “and investment fund manager”, and
(c) by adding the following paragraph:
(a.1) the adviser or an affiliate of the adviser acts as the fund’s investment fund manager;.
9. Section 8.20 is replaced by the following:
(1) In British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, the dealer registration requirement does not apply to

a person or company in respect of a trade in an exchange contract by the person or company if one of the
following applies:
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10.

11.

12.

13.

(a) the trade is made through a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the
trade unless, in furtherance of the trade, the person or company seeking the exemption solicits or
contacts directly any purchaser or prospective purchaser in relation to the trade;

(b) the trade is made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a
category that permits the trade.

(1.1) In Alberta, the dealer registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of a trade in a
derivative on an exchange pursuant to standardized terms determined by the exchange and cleared by a
clearing agency if one of the following applies:

(a) the trade is made through a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the
trade unless, in furtherance of the trade, the person or company seeking the exemption solicits or
contacts directly any purchaser or prospective purchaser in relation to the trade;

(b) the trade is made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a
category that permits the trade..

Section 8.20.1 is amended:

(a) by renumbering it as subsection 8.20.1(1) and replacing “The dealer registration requirement” with “In
British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, the dealer registration requirement”, and

(b) by adding the following subsection:

(2) In Alberta, the dealer registration requirement does not apply to a registered adviser, or an advising
representative or associate advising representative acting on behalf of the registered adviser, in
respect of trading activities related to a trade in a derivative on an exchange pursuant to
standardized terms determined by the exchange and cleared by a clearing agency that are incidental
to its providing advice to a client, if the trade is made through a dealer registered in a category that
permits the trade or a dealer operating under an exemption from the dealer registration requirement..

Section 8.24 is amended by adding “is an investment dealer that” before “is a member of IROC”.
Section 8.26 is amended:

(a) in subsection (1) by deleting “Alberta,”,

(b) by adding the following subsection:

(1.1) Despite section 1.2, in Alberta a reference to “securities” in this section excludes derivatives which
are traded on an exchange pursuant to standardized terms determined by the exchange and cleared
by a clearing agency., and

(c) by replacing subsection (3) with the following:

(3) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting
as an adviser to a permitted client in relation to a foreign security, other than a permitted client that is
a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an
adviser or dealer, if the adviser does not advise that client on securities that are not foreign
securities, unless providing that advice is incidental to its providing advice on a foreign security..

Subsection 9.3(1) is amended:

(a) by replacing “a registered firm that is a member of IIROC” with “an investment dealer that is a member of
IIROC”,

(b) by replacing paragraph (m) with the following:

(m) subsections 14.2(2) to (6) [relationship disclosure information;,
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(c) by adding the following paragraphs:
(m.1)  section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure of charges];
(m.2)  section 14.5.2 [restriction on self-custody and qualified custodian requirement];
(m.3) section 14.5.3 [securities and cash held by a qualified custodian];,
(d) in paragraph (n) by adding “and investment fund assets” after “holding client assets”,
(e) by repealing paragraphs (o) and (p),
(f) by adding the following paragraph:
(p.1) section 14.11.1 [determining market value;,
(9) in paragraph (q) by replacing “[content and delivery of trade confirmation].” with “[content and delivery of
trade confirmation];”, and
(h) by adding the following paragraphs:
(r) section 14.14 [account statements];
(s) section 14.14.1 [additional statements];
(t) section 14.14.2 [security position cost informationy;
(u) section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation];
(v) section 14.18 [investment performance report];
(w) section 14.19 [content of investment performance report];
(x) section 14.20 [delivery of report on charges and other compensation and investment performance
report]..
14. Subsection 9.3(1.1) is amended by replacing “(q)” with “(x)".
15. Subsection 9.3(2) is amended:
(a) by replacing “a registered firm is a member of IIROC” with “an investment dealer is a member of IIROC”,
(b) by replacing paragraph (i) with the following:
(i) subsections 14.2(2) to (6) [relationship disclosure information;,
(c) by adding the following paragraphs:
(i.1) section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure of charges];
(i.2) section 14.5.2 [restriction on self-custody and qualified custodian requirement];
(i.3) section 14.5.3 [securities and cash held by a qualified custodiany;,
(d) in paragraph (j) by adding “and investment fund assets” after “holding client assets”,
(e) by repealing paragraphs (k) and (I),
/] by adding the following paragraph:
(1.1) section 14.11.1 [determining market valuel;,
July 7, 2016 16 (2016), 39 OSCB (Supp-2)



Annex A: Proposed Amendments to NI 31-103 Supplement to the OSC Bulletin

(9)

(h)

in paragraph (m) by replacing “[content and delivery of trade confirmation].” with “[content and delivery of
trade confirmation];”, and

by adding the following paragraphs:

(n) section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation];
(o) section 14.18 [investment performance report];

(p) section 14.19 [content of investment performance report];

(9) section 14.20 [delivery of report on charges and other compensation and investment performance
report]..

16. Subsection 9.3(2.1) is amended by replacing “(m)” with “(q)”.

17. Subsection 9.4(1) is amended:

(a

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e

()

(9)

(h)

by replacing “a registered firm that is a member of the MFDA” with “a mutual fund dealer that is a member of
the MFDA”,

by replacing paragraph (m) with the following:

(m) subsections 14.2(2), (3) and (5.1) [relationship disclosure information];,

by adding the following paragraphs:

(m.1)  section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure of charges];

(m.2)  section 14.5.2 [restriction on self-custody and qualified custodian requirement];
(m.3) section 14.5.3 [securities and cash held by a qualified custodian];,

in paragraph (n) by adding “and investment fund assets” after “holding client assets”,
by repealing paragraphs (o) and (p),

by adding the following paragraph:

(p.1) section 14.11.1 [determining market value;,

in paragraph (q) by replacing “[content and delivery of trade confirmation].” with “[content and delivery of
trade confirmation];”, and

by adding the following paragraphs:

(r section 14.14 [account statements];

(s) section 14.14.1 [additional statements];

(t) section 14.14.2 [security position cost informationy;

(u) section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation];
(v) section 14.18 [investment performance report];

(w) section 14.19 [content of investment performance report];

(x) section 14.20 [delivery of report on charges and other compensation and investment performance
reporf]..

18. Subsection 9.4(1.1) is amended by replacing “(q)” with “(x)”.
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19. Subsection 9.4(2) is amended:
(a) by replacing “is a member of the MFDA” with “is a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA”,
(b) by replacing paragraph (g) with the following:
(9) subsections 14.2(2), (3) and (5.1) [relationship disclosure information];,
(c) by adding the following paragraphs:
(g.1) section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure of charges];
(9.2) section 14.5.2 [restriction on self-custody and qualified custodian requirement];
(g9.3) section 14.5.3 [securities and cash held by a qualified custodian;,
(d) in paragraph (h) by adding “and investment fund assets” after “holding client assets”,

(e) by repealing paragraphs (i) and (j),

(f) by adding the following paragraph:
(4.1 section 14.11.1 [determining market value);,
(9) in paragraph (k) by replacing “[content and delivery of trade confirmation].” with “[content and delivery of

trade confirmation];”, and

(h) by adding the following paragraphs:

(h section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation];

(m) section 14.18 [investment performance report];

(n) section 14.19 [content of investment performance report];

(0) section 14.20 [delivery of report on charges and other compensation and investment performance

reporf]..

20. Subsection 9.4(2.1) is amended by replacing “(k)” with “(0)".
21. ES1L)l£>secl‘ion 9.4(4) is amended by adding “, except paragraph (1)(h),” after “the requirements listed in subsection
22. Subsection 12.1(5) is amended by replacing “a registered firm that is a member of IIROC” with “an investment

dealer that is a member of IIROC”.
23. Section 12.12 is amended:

(a) in subsection (2.1) by replacing “is a member of the MFDA” with “is a mutual fund dealer that is a member
of the MFDA”, and

(b) by adding the following subsections:

(4) Despite paragraph (1)(b), a firm registered only in Québec and solely in the category of mutual fund
dealer may deliver to the regulatory authority, no later than the 9o™ day after the end of its financial
year, the Monthly Report on Net Free Capital provided in Appendix | of the Regulation respecting the
trust accounts and financial resources of securities firms that shows the calculation of the firm’s net
free capital as at the end of its financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding financial
year, if any.

(5) Despite paragraph (2)(b), a firm registered only in Québec and solely in the category of mutual fund
dealer may deliver to the regulatory authority, no later than the 30" day after the end of the first,
second and third interim period of its financial year, the Monthly Report on Net Free Capital provided
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24.

25.

26.

27.

28.

29.

in Appendix | of the Regulation respecting the trust accounts and financial resources of securities
firms that shows the calculation of the firm’s net free capital as at the end of the interim period and as
at the end of the immediately preceding interim period, if any..

Section 12.14 is amended:

(a) in subsection (4) by replacing “a registered firm is a member of IIROC” with “an investment dealer is a
member of IIROC”, and

(b) in subsection (5) by adding “is a mutual fund dealer that” before “is a member of the MFDA”.
Subsection 13.17(1) is amended:
(a) in paragraph (f) by replacing “[account statements].” with “[account statements];”, and

(b) by adding the following paragraphs:

(9) section 14.14.1 [additional statements];

(h) section 14.14.2 [security position cost informationy;

(i) section 14.17 [report on charges and other compensation];
) section 14.18 [investment performance report]..

Section 14.1 is amended by replacing “section 14.1.1, section 14.6” with “sections 14.1.1, 14.5.1, 14.5.2, 14.5.3 and
14.6".

Subsection 14.2(2) is amended by adding the following paragraphs:

(a.1) for registered firms that hold client’s assets, or direct or arrange which custodian will hold the client’s assets,
disclosure regarding where and the manner in which the client’s assets are held, and the relevant associated
risks and benéefits to the client;

(a.2) for registered firms that have access to client’s assets, disclosure regarding where and the manner in which
the client’s assets are held, the manner in which the client’'s assets are accessible by the registered firm, and
the relevant associated risks and benefits to the client;.

The title of Division 3 of Part 14 is amended by adding “and investment fund assets” after “Client assets”.

Part 14 is amended by adding the following sections after the title of Division 3:

14.5.1 Definition of “securities” in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

(1) Despite section 1.2, in British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to “securities” in this
Division excludes “exchange contracts”.

(2) Despite section 1.2, in Alberta a reference to “securities” in this Division excludes derivatives which are traded
on an exchange pursuant to standardized terms determined by the exchange and cleared by a clearing
agency.

14.5.2 Restriction on self-custody and qualified custodian requirement

(1) A registered firm must not act as the custodian or sub-custodian for a client of the firm or for an investment
fund in respect of the client’s or investment fund’s securities or cash unless the registered firm:

(a) is a “Canadian custodian” under paragraph (a), (b) or (d) of the definition of “Canadian custodian”,
and
(b) has established and maintains a system of controls and supervision sufficient to manage the risks to

the client or investment fund associated with the custody of the client’'s or investment fund’s
securities or cash.
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(2) A registered firm must ensure that a Canadian custodian is the custodian for a client of the firm or for an
investment fund managed by the firm in respect of the client’'s or investment fund’s securities or cash if the
firm:

(a) directs or arranges which custodian will hold the securities or cash of the client or investment fund, or
(b) holds or has access to the securities or cash of the client or investment fund.

3) Despite subsection (2), the registered firm may ensure that a foreign custodian is the custodian of the
securities or cash of the client or investment fund, if a reasonable person would conclude that using the
foreign custodian is more beneficial to the client or investment fund than using a Canadian custodian.

(4) Despite subsection (2), the registered firm may ensure that a Canadian financial institution is the custodian of
the cash of the client or investment fund.

(5) For the purposes of subsections (2) and (3), the qualified custodian must be functionally independent of the
registered firm unless:

(a) the qualified custodian is a “Canadian custodian” under paragraph (a), (b) or (d) of the definition of
“Canadian custodian”, and

(b) the registered firm ensures that the qualified custodian has established and maintains a system of
controls and supervision sufficient to manage the risks to the client or investment fund associated
with the custody of the client’s or investment fund’s securities or cash.

(6) For the purpose of subsection (4), the Canadian financial institution must be functionally independent of the
registered firm.

(7) This section does not apply to a registered firm in respect of:

(a) an investment fund that is subject to National Instrument 81-102 Investment Funds;
(b) an investment fund that is subject to National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements;
(c) a security that is registered only in the name of the client or investment fund on the books of the
security’s issuer, or the transfer agent of the security’s issuer;
(d) a security or cash of a permitted client if the permitted client:
(i) is not an individual or an investment fund; and
(i) has waived, in writing, the requirements in this section, as applicable;
(e) customer collateral subject to custodial requirements under National Instrument 94-102 Derivatives:
Customer Clearing and Protection of Customer Collateral and Positions;
() a security that evidences a debt obligation secured by a mortgage registered or published against the
title of real estate in a jurisdiction of Canada if:
0] the registration or publication is in the name of the client or investment fund as mortgagee;
or
(ii) in the case of a syndicated mortgage, the registration or publication is in the name of any of
the following as mortgagee:
(A) a person or company that is registered or licensed under mortgage brokerage,
mortgage administrators, or mortgage dealer legislation of that jurisdiction of
Canada if that mortgage is held in trust for the client or investment fund, as
applicable;
(B) each investor that is a mortgagee in respect of that mortgage.
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14.5.3 Securities and cash held by a qualified custodian

A registered firm must take reasonable steps to ensure that securities and cash of a client or an investment fund that
are subject to subsection 14.5.2(2), 14.5.2(3) or 14.5.2(4) are:

(a) except as provided in paragraphs (b) and (c), held by the qualified custodian, or with respect to cash,
the Canadian financial institution, using an account number or other designation in the records of the
qualified custodian or the Canadian financial institution, as applicable, sufficient to show that the
beneficial ownership of the securities or cash of the client or investment fund is vested in that client
or investment fund;

(b) in respect of cash held in an account in the name of the registered firm, separate and apart from the
registered firm’s own property, and held by the qualified custodian, or the Canadian financial
institution, in a designated trust account in trust for clients or investment funds; or

(c) in respect of cash and securities held for the purpose of bulk trading, the cash and securities are held
in the name of the registered firm in trust for clients or investment funds if the securities and cash are
transferred to the applicable client’s or investment fund’s account held by that client’s or investment
fund’s qualified custodian as soon as possible following the trades..

30. Section 14.6 is replaced with the following:

14.6 Holding client assets and investment fund assets in trust

(1)

If a registered firm holds client assets or investment fund assets other than securities and cash, or if a
registered firm holds securities or cash of a client or an investment fund that a registered firm is permitted to
hold in accordance with section 14.5.2, the registered firm must hold the assets

(a) separate and apart from its own property,

(b) in trust for the client or investment fund, and

(c) in the case of cash, in a designated trust account with a Canadian custodian or Canadian financial
institution.

(2) Despite subsection (1), the registered firm may ensure that a foreign custodian is the custodian for the cash of
the client or investment fund if a reasonable person would conclude that using the foreign custodian is more
beneficial to the client or investment fund than using a Canadian custodian or a Canadian financial institution..

31. Section 14.7 is repealed.
32 Section 14.8 is repealed.
33. Section 14.9 is repealed.
34. Subsection 14.11.1(2) is replaced with the following:

(2) If a registered firm determines the market value of a security in accordance with subparagraph (1)(b)(iii), when
it refers to the market value in a statement under section 14.14 [account statements], 14.14.1 [additional
statements], 14.14.2 [security position cost information], 14.15 [security holder statements] or 14.16
[scholarship plan dealer statements], the registered firm must include the following notification or a notification
that is substantially similar:

“There is no active market for this security so we have estimated its market value.”
35. Subsection 14.11.1(3) is replaced with the following:
3) If a registered firm reasonably believes that it cannot determine the market value of a security in accordance

with subsection (1), the market value of the security must be reported in a statement delivered under section
14.14 [account statements], 14.14.1 [additional statements], 14.14.2 [security position cost information], 14.15
[security holder statements] or 14.16 [scholarship plan dealer statements] as not determinable, and the market
value of the security must be excluded from the calculations in paragraphs 14.15(5)(b), 14.14.1(2)(b) and
14.14.2(5)(a)..
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36.

37.

38.

39.

Section 14.14 is amended:
(a) in paragraph (4)(b) by replacing “sale or transfer;” with “sale, dividend or interest payment or transfer;”,
(b) in paragraph (4)(d) by adding “purchased, sold or transferred” after “securities”,
(c) by replacing paragraph (4)(f) with the following:
(f) the total value of the transaction if it was a purchase, sale or dividend or interest payment., and
(d) in paragraph (5)(f) by replacing “covered” with “eligible for coverage”.
Section 14.14.1 is amended:
(a) by replacing 2(f) and (g) with the following:

(f) disclosure in respect of the person or company that holds or controls each security and a description
of the way it is held;

(9) whether the securities are, or the account is, eligible for coverage under an investor protection fund
approved or recognized by the securities regulatory authority;, and

(b) by adding the following subsection:
(2.1) Paragraph (2)(g) does not apply if the person or company referred to in paragraph (2)(f) is required
under section 14.14, or an IIROC provision or MFDA provision, to deliver a statement to the client in

respect of the securities or the account referred to in subsection (1)..

The heading in section 14.14.2 is amended by replacing “Position cost information” with “Security position cost
information”.

Section 14.14.2 is amended:
(a) by replacing subparagraph (2) with the following:
(2) The information delivered under subsection (1) must disclose the following:

(a) for each security position, in the statement, opened on or after July 15, 2015, presented on
an average cost per unit or share basis or an aggregate basis,

(i) the cost of the security position, determined as at the end of the period for which
the information under subsection 14.14(5) or 14.14.1(2) is provided, or

(ii) if the security position was transferred from another registered firm, the information
referred to in subparagraph (i) or the market value of the security position as at the
date of the transfer of the security position;

(b) for each security position, in the statement, opened before July 15, 2015, presented on an
average cost per unit or share basis or an aggregate basis,

0] the cost of the security position, determined as at the end of the period for which
the information under subsection 14.14(5) or 14.14.1(2) is provided, or

(ii) the market value of the security position on:
(A) December 31, 2015, or
(B) a date that is earlier than December 31, 2015 if it is reasonable for the

registered firm to choose that date based on the availability and accuracy
of recorded historical position cost information., and
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(b) by adding the following section:

(2.1) If a registered firm reports one or more security positions of a client using market value under
subparagraph (2)(a)(ii) or 2(b)(ii), the firm must also disclose in the statement that it is the market
value of the security position as of the relevant date, not the cost of the security position, that is being
disclosed..

40. Subsection 14.15(c) and section 14.16 are amended by replacing “14.14.2 [position cost information]” with “14.14.2
[security position cost information]”.

41. Subsection 14.19 is amended:
(a) by replacing paragraph (1)(e) with the following:

(b)

(c)

(e)

if the client’s account was opened before July 15, 2015, the following:
0] the market value of all cash and securities in the client’s account as at
(A) July 15, 2015, or
(B) a date that is earlier than July 15, 2015 if it is reasonable for the registered firm to
choose that date based on the availability and accuracy of recorded historical
market value information;
(i) the market value of all deposits and transfers of cash and securities into the account, and

the market value of all withdrawals and transfers of cash and securities out of the account,
since the date in clause (i)(A) or (B);,

by adding the following paragraph (1)(e.1):

(e.1)

despite paragraph (e), a registered firm that delivered an investment performance report for the
period ending December 31, 2016 may include the market value information in subparagraphs (e)(i)
and (ii) as at and since

0] January 1, 2016, or
(i) a date that is earlier than January 1, 2016 if it is reasonable for the registered firm to choose

that date based on the availability and accuracy of recorded historical market value
information;,

by replacing paragraph (1)(h) with the following:

(h)

if the client’'s account was opened before July 15, 2015, a registered firm may include the cumulative
change in the market value of the account determined using the following formula, instead of the
formula in paragraph (g)

A-G-H+I
where
= the market value of all cash and securities in the account as at the end of the 12-month
period covered by the investment performance report;
G= the market value of all cash and securities in the account as at
(a) July 15, 2015, or
(b) a date that is earlier than July 15, 2015 if it is reasonable for the registered firm to
choose that date based on the availability and accuracy of recorded historical
market value information;
H= the market value of all deposits and transfers of cash and securities into the account since

the date used for the purposes of the definition of “G”; and
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I = the market value of all withdrawals and transfers of cash and securities out of the account
since the date used for the purposes of the definition of “G”;,

(d) by adding the following paragraph (1)(h.1):

(h.1) a registered firm that delivered an investment performance report for the period ending December
31, 2016 may include the market value information in paragraph (h) as at and since

0] January 1, 2016, or
(i) a date that is earlier than January 1, 2016 if it is reasonable for the registered firm to choose
that date based on the availability and accuracy of recorded historical market value
information;,
(e) replacing paragraph (2)(e) with the following:

(e) the period since the client’'s account was opened if the account has been open for more than one
year before the date of the report or, if the account was opened before July 15, 2015, the period
since
(i) July 15, 2015, or
(ii) a date that is earlier than July 15, 2015 if it is reasonable for the registered firm to choose

that date based on the availability and accuracy of recorded annualized total percentage
return information., and

(f) adding the following section (3.1):

(3.1) Despite paragraph (2)(e), a registered firm that delivered an investment performance report for the
period ending December 31, 2016 may use the period since

(a) January 1, 2016, or
(b) a date that is earlier than January 1, 2016 if it is reasonable for the registered firm to choose
that date based on the availability and accuracy of recorded annualized total percentage

return information..

42. Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital is amended by replacing Line 10 of the table with the
following:

Less any deductible under the bonding or insurance policy required under Part 12 of National Instrument 31-103 Registration
Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing Registrant Obligations, or the deductible under the liability insurance, for a firm
registered only in Québec and solely in the category of mutual fund dealer

43. Section (2) of Schedule 1 of Form 31-103F1 is amended:

(a) in paragraph (a)(i) by replacing “(provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or
AAA by Moody’s Canada Inc. or its DRO affiliate, or Standard & Poor’s Rating Services (Canada) or its DRO
affiliate, respectively)” with “(provided such foreign government securities are currently rated Aaa or AAA or
the short-term ratings equivalent by a designated rating organization or its DRO affiliate)”, and

(b) in subsection (d) by replacing “Investment Companies Act of 1940” with “Investment Company Act of
1940".
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44. The chart in Appendix G is repealed and the following substituted:

NI 31-103 Provision

IIROC Provision

section 12.1 [capital requirements] 1. Dealer Member Rule 17.1; and
2. Form1
section 12.2 [subordination 1. Dealer Member Rule 5.2; and
agreement] 2.  Dealer Member Rule 5.2A
section 12.3 [insurance — dealer] 1.  Dealer Member Rule 17.5
2.  Dealer Member Rule 400.2 [Financial Institution Bond];
3. Dealer Member Rule 400.4 [Amounts Required]; and
4. Dealer Member Rule 400.5 [Provisos with respect to Dealer Member Rules
400.2, 400.3 and 400.4]
section 12.6 [global bonding or 1. Dealer Member Rule 400.7 [Global Financial Institution Bonds]
insurance]
section 12.7 [notifying the regulator 1.  Dealer Member Rule 17.6;
of a change, claim or cancellation] 2.  Dealer Member Rule 400.3 [Notice of Termination]; and
3.  Dealer Member Rule 400.3B [Termination or Cancellation]
section 12.10 [annual financial 1. Dealer Member Rule 16.2 [Dealer Member Filing Requirements]; and
statements] 2. Form1
section 12.11 [interim financial 1. Dealer Member Rule 16.2 [Dealer Member Filing Requirements]; and
information] 2. Form1
section 12.12 [delivering financial 1. Dealer Member Rule 16.2 [Dealer Member Filing Requirements]
information — dealer]
subsection 13.2(3) [know your client] | 1.  Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(a)-(n) [/dentity and Creditworthiness];
2. Dealer Member Rule 1300.2;
3. Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part Il [Opening New Accounts];
4. Dealer Member Rule 2700, Part Il [New Account Documentation and Approvall;
and
5.  Form 2 New Client Application Form
section 13.3 [suitability] 1. Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(o) [Business Conduct];
2.  Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(p) [Suitability determination required when
accepting order];
3.  Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(q) [Suitability determination required when
recommendation provided];
4.  Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(r) [Suitability determination required for account
positions held when certain events occur];
5.  Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(s) [Suitability of investments in client accounts];
6. Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(t) — (v) [Exemptions from the suitability
assessment requirements]
7.  Dealer Member Rule 1300.1(w) [Corporation approval]
8.  Dealer Member Rule 2700, Part | [Customer Suitability]; and
9. Dealer Member Rule 3200 [Minimum requirements for Dealer Members seeking
approval under Rule 1300.1(t) to offer an order-execution only service]
section 13.12 [restriction on lending 1. Dealer Member Rule 17.11; and
to clients] 2. Dealer Member Rule 100 [Margin Requirements]
section 13.13 [disclosure when 1.  Dealer Member Rule 29.26
recommending the use of borrowed
money]
section 13.15 [handling complaints] 1. Dealer Member Rule 2500, Part VIII [Client Complaints]; and
2. Dealer Member Rule 2500B [Client Complaint Handling]

subsection 14.2(2) [relationship
disclosure information]

Dealer Member Rule 3500.5 [Content of relationship disclosure]

July 7, 2016

25 (2016), 39 OSCB (Supp-2)



Annex A: Proposed Amendments to NI 31-103

Supplement to the OSC Bulletin

NI 31-103 Provision

IIROC Provision

subsection 14.2(3) [relationship
disclosure information]

1.

Dealer Member Rule 3500.4 [Format of relationship disclosure]

subsection 14.2(4) [relationship
disclosure information)

Dealer Member Rule 3500.1 [Objective of relationship disclosure requirements]

subsection 14.2(5.1) [relationship
disclosure information)

Dealer Member Rule 29.8

subsection 14.2(6) [relationship
disclosure information]

Dealer Member Rule 3500.1 [Objective of relationship disclosure requirements]

section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure
of charges]

Dealer Member Rule 29.9

section 14.5.2 [restriction on self-
custody and qualified custodian

Dealer Member Rule 17.2A [Establishment and maintenance of adequate
internal controls in accordance with Dealer Member Rule 2600];

requirement] 2.  Dealer Member Rules 17.3, 17.3A, 17.3B and 2000 [Segregation
Requirements];
3. Dealer Member Rule 2600 — Internal Control Policy Statement
4 [Segregation of Clients’ Securities];
4. Dealer Member Rule 2600 — Internal Control Policy Statement
5 [Safekeeping of Clients’ Securities];
5.  Dealer Member Rule 2600 — Internal Control Policy Statement
6 [Safeguarding of Securities and Cash]; and
6. Definition of “acceptable securities locations”, General Notes
and Definitions to Form 1
section 14.5.3 [securities and cash 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200 [Minimum Records]
held by a qualified custodian]
section 14.6 [holding client assets 1. Dealer Member Rule 17.3
and investment fund assets in trust]
section 14.11.1 [determining market | 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200.1(c); and
value) 2. Definition (g) of the General Notes and Definitions to Form 1
section 14.12 [content and delivery 1. Dealer Member Rule 200.2(l) [Trade confirmations]
of trade confirmation]
section 14.14 [account statements] 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200.2(d) [Client account statements]; and
2. “Guide to Interpretation of Rule 200.2", ltem (d)
section 14.14.1 [additional 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200.2(e) [Report on client positions held outside of the
statements] Dealer Membery;
2. Dealer Member Rule 200.4 [Timing of sending documents to clients]; and
3.  “Guide to Interpretation of Rule 200.2”, Item (e)
section 14.14.2 [security position 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200.1(a);
cost information] 2.  Dealer Member Rule 200.1(b);
3.  Dealer Member Rule 200.1(e);
4.  Dealer Member Rule 200.2(d)(ii)(F) and (H); and
5.  Dealer Member Rule 200.2(e)(ii)(C) and (E)
section 14.17 [report on charges and | 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200.2(g) [Fee/ charge report]; and
other compensation] 2. “Guide to Interpretation of Rule 200.2”, ltem (g)
section 14.18 [investment 1. Dealer Member Rule 200.2(f) [Performance report]; and
performance report] 2.  “Guide to Interpretation of Rule 200.2”, Item (f)
section 14.19 [content of investment | 1.  Dealer Member Rule 200.2(f) [Performance report]; and
performance report] 2. “Guide to Interpretation of Rule 200.2”, Item (f)
section 14.20 [delivery of report on 1. Dealer Member Rule 200.4
charges and other compensation
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NI 31-103 Provision

IIROC Provision

and investment performance report]

45. The chart in Appendix H is repealed and the following substituted:

NI 31-103 Provision

MFDA Provision

section 12.1 [capital requirements] 1. Rule 3.1.1 [Minimum Levels];
2. Rule 3.1.2 [Notice];
3. Rule 3.2.2 [Member Capital);
4. Form 1; and
5.  Policy No. 4 [Internal Control Policy Statements — Policy Statement 2: Capital
Adequacy]
section 12.2 [subordination 1.  Form 1, Statement F [Statement of Changes in Subordinated Loans]; and
agreement] 2. Membership Application Package — Schedule | (Subordinated Loan Agreement)
section 12.3 [insurance — dealer] 1. Rule 4.1 [Financial Institution Bond];
2. Rule 4.4 [Amounts Required];
3.  Rule 4.5 [Provisos];
4.  Rule 4.6 [Qualified Carriers]; and
5.  Policy No. 4 [Internal Control Policy Statements — Policy Statement 3:
Insurance]
section 12.6 [global bonding or 1. Rule 4.7 [Global Financial Institution Bonds]
insurance]
section 12.7 [notifying the regulator 1. Rule 4.2 [Notice of Termination]; and
of a change, claim or cancellation] 2. Rule 4.3 [Termination or Cancellation]
section 12.10 [annual financial 1. Rule 3.5.1 [Monthly and Annuall;
statements] 2. Rule 3.5.2 [Combined Financial Statements]; and
3. Form 1
section 12.11 [interim financial 1. Rule 3.5.1 [Monthly and Annuall;
information) 2. Rule 3.5.2 [Combined Financial Statements]; and
3. Form 1
section 12.12 [delivering financial 1. Rule 3.5.1 [Monthly and Annual]
information — dealer]
section 13.3 [suitability] 1. Rule 2.2.1 [“Know-Your-Client’]; and
2. Policy No. 2 [Minimum Standards for Account Supervision)
section 13.12 [restriction on lending 1. Rule 3.2.1 [Client Lending and Margin]; and
to clients] 2. Rule 3.2.3 [Advancing Mutual Fund Redemption Proceeds]
section 13.13 [disclosure when 1. Rule 2.6 [Borrowing for Securities Purchases]
recommending the use of borrowed
money]
section 13.15 [handling complaints] 1. Rule 2.11 [Complaints]
2. Policy No. 3 [Complaint Handling, Supervisory Investigations and Internal
Discipline]; and
3. Policy No. 6 [Information Reporting Requirements]
subsection 14.2(2), (3) and (5.1) 1. Rule 2.2.5 [Relationship Disclosure]
[relationship disclosure information] 2 Rule 2.4.3 [Operating Charges]
section 14.2.1 [pre-trade disclosure 1. Rule 2.4.4 [Transaction Fees or Charges]
of charges]
section 14.5.2 [restriction on self- 1. Rule 3.3.1 [Generall;
custody and qualified custodian 2. Rule 3.3.2 [Cash];
requirement] 3. Rule 3.3.3 [Securities]; and
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NI 31-103 Provision

MFDA Provision

4. Policy No. 4 [Internal Control Policy Statements — Policy Statement 4: Cash
and Securities, and Policy Statement 5: Segregation of Clients’ Securities]
section 14.5.3 [securities and cash 1. Policy No. 4 [Internal Control Policy Statements — Policy Statement 4: Cash
held by a qualified custodian] and Securities, and Policy Statement 5: Segregation of Clients’ Securities]
section 14.6 [holding client assets 1. Rule 3.3.1 [General];
and investment fund assets in trust] 2. Rule 3.3.2 [Cash];
3. Rule 3.3.3 [Securities]; and
4. Policy No. 4 [Internal Control Policy Statements — Policy Statement 4: Cash
and Securities, and Policy Statement 5: Segregation of Clients’ Securities]
section 14.11.1 [determining market | 1. Rule 5.3(1)(f) [definition of “market value”]; and
value) 2. Definitions to Form 1 [definition of “market value” of a security]
. . 1. Rule 5.4.1 [Delivery of Confirmations];
2??;?\9 10‘:)':’;,[73:32%']” and delivery 2. Rule 5.4.2 [Automatic Plans]; and
3. Rule 5.4.3 [Content]
. 1. Rule 5.3.1 [Delivery of Account Statement]; and
section 14.14 [account statements] 2. Rule 5.3.2 [Content of Account Statement]
section 14.14.1 [ad(ditional 1. Rule 5.3.1 [Delivery of Account Statement]; and
statements] 2. Rule 5.3.2 [Content of Account Statement]
1. Rule 5.3(1)(a) [definition of “book cost’];
section 14.14.2 [security position 2. Rule 5.3(1)(c) [definition of “cost’]; and
cost information] 3. Rule 5.3.2(c) [Content of Account Statement — Market Value and Cost
Reporting]
section 14.17 [rep ort on charges and 1. Rule 5.3.3 [Report on Charges and Other Compensation]
other compensation]
section 14.18 [investment 1. Rule 5.3.4 [Performance Report]; and
performance report] 2. Policy No. 7 Performance Reporting
section 14.19 [content of investment | 1. Rule 5.3.4 [Performance Report]; and
performance reporf] 2. Policy No. 7 Performance Reporting

section 14.20 [delivery of report on
charges and other compensation
and investment performance report]

Rule 5.3.5 [Delivery of Report on Charges and Other Compensation and
Performance Report]
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46. (1) Subject to subsection (2), this Instrument comes into force on e.
(2) The provisions of this Instrument listed in column 1 of the following table come into force on the date set out in
column 2 of the table:
Column 1 — Column 2 —
Provisions of this Instrument Date on which these provisions come into force
Provision 2 [6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 13(c) relating to paragraphs 9.3(1)(m.2) and (m.3)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provisions 13(d) and 13(e)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 15(c) relating to paragraphs 9.3(2)(i.2) and (i.3)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provisions 15(d) and 15(e)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 17(c) relating to paragraphs 9.4(1)(m.2) and (m.3)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provisions 17(d) and 17(e)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 19(c) relating to paragraphs 9.4(2)(g.2) and (g.3)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provisions 19(d) and 19(e)

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 27 [6 months after the implementation date]
Provision 29 [6 months after the implementation date]
Provision 30 [6 months after the implementation date]
Provision 31 [6 months after the implementation date]
Provision 32 [6 months after the implementation date]
Provision 33 [6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 44 relating to sections 14.5.2, 14.5.3, 14.6, 14.8 and
14.9.

[6 months after the implementation date]

Provision 45 relating to sections14.5.2, 14.5.3, 14.6, 14.8 and
14.9.

[6 months after the implementation date]
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ANNEX B

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103 REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS,
EXEMPTIONS AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS,
BLACKLINED TO SHOW THE PROPOSED CHANGES TO
THE CURRENT NI 31-103 UNDER THE PROPOSED AMENDMENTS
[PROPOSED CHANGES TO UNOFFICIAL CONSOLIDATION]"?

NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS, EXEMPTIONS
AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Table of Contents
Part1 Interpretation

Definitions of terms used throughout this Instrument
Interpretation of “securities” in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
Information may be given to the principal regulator

- a
WN -

Part 2 Categories of registration for individuals

2.1 Individual categories
2.2 Client mobility exemption — individuals
2.3 Individuals acting for investment fund managers

Part 3 Registration requirements — individuals

Division 1 General proficiency requirements

3.1 Definitions

3.2 U.S. equivalency

3.3 Time limits on examination requirements
Division 2  Education and experience requirements

3.4 Proficiency — initial and ongoing

3.5 Mutual fund dealer — dealing representative

3.6 Mutual fund dealer — chief compliance officer
3.7 Scholarship plan dealer — dealing representative
3.8 Scholarship plan dealer — chief compliance officer
3.9 Exempt market dealer — dealing representative
3.10 Exempt market dealer — chief compliance officer
3.1 Portfolio manager — advising representative

3.12 Portfolio manager — associate advising representative

3.13 Portfolio manager — chief compliance officer

3.14 Investment fund manager — chief compliance officer

Division 3  Membership in a self-requlatory organization

3.15 Who must be approved by an SRO before registration

3.16 Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO-approved persons

Please note that, except for certain further minor changes to ss. 1.2 and 8.20(1.1), all of the blacklined changes shown in

the following sections have previously been adopted in Alberta, New Brunswick, and Québec: ss. 1.2, 8.2, 8.20(1), 8.20
(1.1), 8.20.1, 8.26(1), and 8.26(1.1). The further minor change to s. 1.2, which was not previously adopted in those
provinces, consists of the proposed addition of "Subject to sections 8.2, 8.26 and 14.5.1," at the beginning of ss. 1.2 (1) and
(2). And the further minor change to s. 8.20(1.1), which was not previously adopted in those provinces, consists of the
inclusion of the phrase "if one of the following applies" after "trade in a derivative on an exchange pursuant to standardized
terms determined by the exchange and cleared by a clearing agency."

Please also note that the blackline does not reflect the anticipated adoption by Alberta, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

of the local amendments referred to in footnote 2 of Annex A.
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Firm
registration

Part 4

4.1
4.2

Part 5

5.1
5.2

Part 6

6.1
6.2
6.3
6.4
6.5
6.6
6.7
6.8

Part7
71
7.2
7.3

Part 8

Restrictions on registered individuals

Restriction on acting for another registered firm
Associate advising representatives — pre-approval of advice

Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer

Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person
Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer

Suspension and revocation of registration — individuals

If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

If IROC approval is revoked or suspended

If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended

If sponsoring firm is suspended

Dealing and advising activities suspended

Revocation of a suspended registration — individual
Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding
Application of Part 6 in Ontario

Categories of registration for firms
Dealer categories

Adviser categories

Investment fund manager category

Exemptions from the requirement to register

Division 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration

8.0.1
8.1
8.2
8.3
8.4

8.5
8.5.1
8.6
8.7
8.8
8.9
8.10
8.11
8.12
8.13
8.14
8.15
8.16
8.17
8.18
8.19
8.20
8.20.1

8.21
8.22
8.22.1

General condition to dealer registration requirement exemptions

Interpretation of “trade” in Québec

Definition of “securities” in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
Interpretation — exemption from underwriter registration requirement

Person or company not in the business of trading in British Columbia, Manitoba and New
Brunswick

Trades through or to a registered dealer

Trades through a registered dealer by registered adviser

Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account

Investment fund reinvestment

Additional investment in investment funds

Additional investment in investment funds if initial purchase before September 14, 2005
Private investment club

Private investment fund — loan and trust pools

Mortgages

Personal property security legislation

Variable insurance contract

Schedule Il banks and cooperative associations — evidence of deposit

Plan administrator

Reinvestment plan

International dealer

Self-directed registered education savings plan

Exchange contract — Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan
Exchange contract trades through or to a registered dealer - Alberta, British Columbia, New
Brunswick and Saskatchewan

Specified debt

Small security holder selling and purchase arrangements

Short-term debt

Division 2 Exemptions from adviser registration

8.22.2
8.23
8.24

General condition to adviser registration requirement exemptions
Dealer without discretionary authority
IIROC members with discretionary authority
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Business
operations

8.25 Advising generally

8.26 International adviser

8.26.1 International sub-adviser

Division 3  Exemptions from investment fund manager registration

8.26.2 General condition to investment fund manager registration requirement exemptions
8.27 Private investment club

8.28 Capital accumulation plan

8.29 Private investment fund — loan and trust pools

Division 4  Mobility exemption — firms

8.30 Client mobility exemption — firms

Part9 Membership in a self-regulatory organization

9.1 IIROC membership for investment dealers

9.2 MFDA membership for mutual fund dealers

9.3 Exemptions from certain requirements for IROC members
9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members

Part 10 Suspension and revocation of registration — firms

Division 1 When a firm’s registration is suspended

10.1 Failure to pay fees

10.2 If IROC membership is revoked or suspended

10.3 If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended

104 Activities not permitted while a firm’s registration is suspended
Division 2 Revoking a firm’s registration

10.5 Revocation of a suspended registration — firm

10.6 Exception for firms involved in a hearing or proceeding

10.7 Application of Part 10 in Ontario

Part 11 Internal controls and systems

Division 1 Compliance

11.1 Compliance system

11.2 Designating an ultimate designated person
11.3 Designating a chief compliance officer

11.4 Providing access to the board of directors
Division 2 Books and records

11.5 General requirements for records

11.6 Form, accessibility and retention of records
Division 3  Certain business transactions

11.7 Tied settling of securities transactions

11.8 Tied selling

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm’s securities or assets
11.10 Registered firm whose securities are acquired

Part 12 Financial condition

Division 1 Working capital

12.1 Capital requirements
12.2 Subordination agreement
Division 2 Insurance

12.3 Insurance — dealer
12.4 Insurance — adviser
12.5 Insurance — investment fund manager

12.6 Global bonding or insurance

12.7 Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation
Division 3 Audits

12.8 Direction by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review
12.9 Co-operating with the auditor

Division 4  Financial reporting

12.10  Annual financial statements

12.11  Interim financial information
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Client
relationships

12.12  Delivering financial information — dealer

12.13  Delivering financial information — adviser

12.14  Delivering financial information — investment fund manager
12.15 Exemptions for financial years beginning in 2011

Part 13 Dealing with clients — individuals and firms

Division 1 Know your client and suitability

13.1 Investment fund managers exempt from this Division

13.2 Know your client

13.3 Suitability

Division 2 Confiicts of interest

13.4 Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest

13.5 Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

13.6 Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities
Division 3  Referral arrangements

13.7 Definitions — referral arrangements

13.8 Permitted referral arrangements

13.9 Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral
13.10 Disclosing referral arrangements to clients

13.11  Referral arrangements before this Instrument came into force
Division 4  Loans and margin

13.12  Restriction on lending to clients

13.13  Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money
Division 5 Complaints

13.14  Application of this Division

13.15 Handling complaints

13.16  Dispute resolution service

Division 6  Registered sub-advisers

13.17  Exemption from certain requirements for registered sub-advisers

Part 14 Handling client accounts — firms

Division 1 Investment fund managers

14.1 Application of this Part to investment fund managers

14.1.1  Duty to provide information

Division 2 Disclosure to clients

14.2 Relationship disclosure information

14.2.1 Pre-trade disclosure of charges

14.3 Disclosure to clients about the fair allocation of investment opportunities
14.4 When the firm has a relationship with a financial institution

14.5 Notice to clients by non-resident registrants

Division 3  Client assets_and investment fund assets

14.5.1  Definition of “securities” in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

14.5.2 Restriction on self-custody and qualified custodian requirement
14.5. Securities and cash held by a qualified custodian

14.6 Holding client assets and investment fund assets in trust
14.7 Helding-client-assets—non-residentregistrants[repealed]
14.8 iti j i

Seecurities-subject-to-a-safekeeping-agreement[repealed]
14.9 Seecuritiesnot-subject-to-a-safekeeping-agreement[repealed]

Division 4  Client accounts

14.10  Allocating investment opportunities fairly
14.11  Selling or assigning client accounts
Division 5  Reporting to clients

14.11.1 Determining market value

14.12  Content and delivery of trade confirmation
14.13  Confirmations for certain automatic plans
14.14  Account statements

14.14.1 Additional statements

14.14.2 PesitionSecurity position cost information
14.15  Security holder statements

14.16  Scholarship plan dealer statements

14.17  Report on charges and other compensation

July 7, 2016

33 (2016), 39 OSCB (Supp-2)



Annex B: NI 31-103, blacklined to show proposed changes Supplement to the OSC Bulletin

Exemption
from this
Instrument

Transition and
timing

Forms

Appendices

14.18 Investment performance report
14.19  Content of investment performance report
14.20 Delivery of report on charges and other compensation and investment performance report

Part 15 Granting an exemption

15.1 Who can grant an exemption

Part 16 Transition

16.1 [lapsed]
16.2 [lapsed]

16.3 [lapsed]
16.4 [lapsed]
16.5 [lapsed]
16.6 [lapsed]
16.7 [lapsed]
16.8 [lapsed]

16.9 Registration of chief compliance officers
16.10  Proficiency for dealing and advising representatives
16.11  [lapsed]

16.12  Continuation of existing discretionary relief
16.13  [lapsed]

16.14  [lapsed]

16.15 [lapsed]

16.16  [lapsed]

16.17  [lapsed]

16.18 [lapsed]

16.19 [lapsed]

16.20 [lapsed]

Part 17 When this Instrument comes into force

17.1 Effective date

FORM 31-103F1 CALCULATION OF EXCESS WORKING CAPITAL

FORM 31-103F2 SUBMISSION TO JURISDICTION AND APPOINTMENT OF AGENT FOR SERVICE
FORM 31-103F3 USE OF MOBILITY EXEMPTION

FORM 31-103F4 NET ASSET VALUE ADJUSTMENTS

APPENDIX A — BONDING AND INSURANCE CLAUSES

APPENDIX B — SUBORDINATION AGREEMENT

APPENDIX C — [lapsed]

APPENDIX D - [lapsed]

APPENDIX E — [lapsed]

APPENDIX F — [lapsed]

APPENDIX G — EXEMPTIONS FROM CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS FOR IIROC MEMBERS
APPENDIX H — EXEMPTIONS FROM CERTAIN REQUIREMENTS FOR MFDA MEMBERS
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NATIONAL INSTRUMENT 31-103
REGISTRATION REQUIREMENTS, EXEMPTIONS
AND ONGOING REGISTRANT OBLIGATIONS

Part1 Interpretation
1.1 Definitions of terms used throughout this Instrument
In this Instrument

“book cost” means the total amount paid to purchase a security, including any transaction charges related to the purchase,
adjusted for reinvested distributions, returns of capital and corporate reorganizations;

“«

nadian ian” means any of the following:

b a trust company that is incorporated under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction and licensed or registered
under the laws of Canada or a jurisdiction, and that has equity, as reported in its most recent audited financial

statements, of not less than $10,000,000;

i the company has equity, as reported in its most recent audited financial statements, of not less than

$10,000,000;

ii the bank or trust company has assumed responsibility for all of the custodial obligations of the
mpany for th h an rities it holds for a client or investment fund;

“Canadian financial institution” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions;
“connected issuer” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Confiicts;

“debt security” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions;

“designated rating” has the same meaning as in National Instrument 81-102 Investment Funds;

“designated rating organization” has the same meaning as in National Instrument 81-102 Investment Funds;

“DRO affiliate” means an affiliate of a designated rating organization that issues credit ratings in a foreign jurisdiction and that
has been designated as such under the terms of the designated rating organization’s designation;

“eligible client” means a client of a person or company if any of the following apply:

(a) the client is an individual and was a client of the person or company immediately before becoming resident in
the local jurisdiction;

(b) the client is the spouse or a child of a client referred to in paragraph (a);
(c) except in Ontario, the client is a client of the person or company on September 27, 2009 pursuant to the
person or company's reliance on an exemption from the registration requirement under Part 5 of Multilateral

Instrument 11-101 Principal Regulator System on that date;

“exempt market dealer” means a person or company registered in the category of exempt market dealer;

‘foreign custodian” means any of the following:

(a) an entity that
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i is incorporated or organized under the laws of a country, or a political subdivision of a country, other
than Canada

ii is requlated as a banking institution or trust company by the government, or an agency of the
vernment, of th ntry under the laws of which it is incorpor r_organiz r litical
ivision of th ntry, an

equity
of $100,000,000;

b an affiliate of an entity referred to in paragraph (a) or paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) of the definition of “Canadian
custodian” if either of the following applies:

il ' in i ited financial
the equivalent of $100,000,000;

i the entity referred to in paragraph (a) or paragraphs (a), (b), or (c) of the definition of “Canadian

custodian” has assumed responsibility for all of the custodial obligations of the affiliate for the cash
and securities the affiliate holds for a client or investment fund;

“IIROC” means the Investment Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada;
“lIROC provision” means a by-law, rule, regulation or policy of IROC named in Appendix G, as amended from time to time;

“interim period” means a period commencing on the first day of the financial year and ending 9, 6 or 3 months before the end of
the financial year;

“investment dealer” means a person or company registered in the category of investment dealer;

“managed account” means an account of a client for which a person or company makes the investment decisions if that person
or company has discretion to trade in securities for the account without requiring the client’s express consent to a transaction;

“marketplace” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 21-101 Marketplace Operation;

“MFDA” means the Mutual Fund Dealers Association of Canada;

“MFDA provision” means a by-law, rule, regulation or policy of the MFDA named in Appendix H, as amended from time to time;
“mutual fund dealer” means a person or company registered in the category of mutual fund dealer;

“operating charge” means any amount charged to a client by a registered firm in respect of the operation, transfer or termination
of a client’s account and includes any federal, provincial or territorial sales taxes paid on that amount;

“original cost” means the total amount paid to purchase a security, including any transaction charges related to the purchase;

“permitted client” means any of the following:

(a) a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule Il bank;

(b) the Business Development Bank of Canada incorporated under the Business Development Bank of Canada
Act (Canada);

(c) a subsidiary of any person or company referred to in paragraph (a) or (b), if the person or company owns all of
the voting securities of the subsidiary, except the voting securities required by law to be owned by directors of
the subsidiary;

(d) a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser,

investment dealer, mutual fund dealer or exempt market dealer;

(e) a pension fund that is regulated by either the federal Office of the Superintendent of Financial Institutions or a
pension commission or similar regulatory authority of a jurisdiction of Canada or a wholly-owned subsidiary of
such a pension fund;
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(f)

(9

(h)

()

)

(k)

(0

(m)

(n)

(0)

(P)

(@)

(r)

an entity organized in a foreign jurisdiction that is analogous to any of the entities referred to in paragraphs (a)
to (e);

the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada, or any Crown corporation, agency or wholly-owned
entity of the Government of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;

any national, federal, state, provincial, territorial or municipal government of or in any foreign jurisdiction, or
any agency of that government;

a municipality, public board or commission in Canada and a metropolitan community, school board, the
Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de I'lle de Montréal or an intermunicipal management board in Québec;

a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the Trust and Loan
Companies Act (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction,
acting on behalf of a managed account managed by the trust company or trust corporation, as the case may
be;

a person or company acting on behalf of a managed account managed by the person or company, if the
person or company is registered or authorized to carry on business as an adviser or the equivalent under the
securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign jurisdiction;

an investment fund if one or both of the following apply:

(i) the fund is managed by a person or company registered as an investment fund manager under the
securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada;

(ii) the fund is advised by a person or company authorized to act as an adviser under the securities
legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada;

in respect of a dealer, a registered charity under the Income Tax Act (Canada) that obtains advice on the
securities to be traded from an eligibility adviser, as defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106
Prospectus Exemptions, or an adviser registered under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of the
registered charity;

in respect of an adviser, a registered charity under the Income Tax Act (Canada) that is advised by an
eligibility adviser, as defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions, or an
adviser registered under the securities legislation of the jurisdiction of the registered charity;

an individual who beneficially owns financial assets, as defined in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106
Prospectus Exemptions, having an aggregate realizable value that, before taxes but net of any related
liabilities, exceeds $5 million;

a person or company that is entirely owned by an individual or individuals referred to in paragraph (o), who
holds the beneficial ownership interest in the person or company directly or through a trust, the trustee of
which is a trust company or trust corporation registered or authorized to carry on business under the Trust and
Loan Companies Act (Canada) or under comparable legislation in a jurisdiction of Canada or a foreign
jurisdiction;

a person or company, other than an individual or an investment fund, that has net assets of at least $25
million as shown on its most recently prepared financial statements;

a person or company that distributes securities of its own issue in Canada only to persons or companies
referred to in paragraphs (a) to (q);

“portfolio manager” means a person or company registered in the category of portfolio manager;

“principal jurisdiction” means

(@)

(b)

for a person or company other than an individual, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the person or company’s
head office is located, and

for an individual, the jurisdiction of Canada in which the individual’'s working office is located;
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“principal regulator” has the same meaning as in section 4A.1 of Multilateral Instrument 11-102 Passport System;

“qualified custodian” means a Canadian custodian or a foreign custodian;

“registered firm” means a registered dealer, a registered adviser, or a registered investment fund manager;

“registered individual” means an individual who is registered

(a) in a category that authorizes the individual to act as a dealer or an adviser on behalf of a registered firm,
(b) as ultimate designated person, or
(c) as chief compliance officer;

“related issuer” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 33-105 Underwriting Conflicts;
“restricted dealer” means a person or company registered in the category of restricted dealer;

“restricted portfolio manager” means a person or company registered in the category of restricted portfolio manager;
“Schedule Il bank” means an authorized foreign bank named in Schedule Il of the Bank Act (Canada);
“scholarship plan dealer” means a person or company registered in the category of scholarship plan dealer;

“sponsoring firm” means the firm registered in a jurisdiction of Canada on whose behalf an individual acts as a dealer, an
underwriter, an adviser, a chief compliance officer or an ultimate designated person;

“sub-adviser” means an adviser to
(a) a registered adviser, or

(b) a registered dealer acting as a portfolio manager as permitted by section 8.24 [[IROC members with
discretionary authority];

“subsidiary” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions;

“trailing commission” means any payment related to a client's ownership of a security that is part of a continuing series of
payments to a registered firm or registered individual by any party;

“transaction charge” means any amount charged to a client by a registered firm in respect of a purchase or sale of a security
and includes any federal, provincial or territorial sales taxes paid on that amount;

“working office” means the office of the sponsoring firm where an individual does most of his or her business.

The following defined term is added to section 1.1 on July 15, 2016:

“total percentage return” means the cumulative realized and unrealized capital gains and losses of an investment, plus
income from the investment, over a specified period of time, expressed as a percentage;

1.2 Interpretation of “securities” in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

tr-Alberta;(1) Subject to sections 8.2, 8.26 and 14.5.1, in British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, unless the
context otherwise requires, a reference to “securities” in this Instrument includes “exchange contracts”.

(2) Subject to sections 8.2, 8.26 and 14.5.1, in Alberta, unless the context otherwise requires, a reference to “securities” in
is | . es “derivatives’.
1.3 Information may be given to the principal regulator

(1) [repealed)]
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(2)

)
(4)

5

Part 2

21

(1)

(2)

)

For the purpose of a requirement in this Instrument to notify or to deliver or submit a document to the regulator or the
securities regulatory authority, the person or company may notify or deliver or submit the document to the person or
company’s principal regulator.

[repealed)]

Despite subsection (2), for the purpose of the notice and delivery requirements in section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a
registered firm’s securities or assets], if the principal regulator of the registrant and the principal regulator of the firm
identified in paragraph 11.9(1)(a) or 11.9(1)(b), if registered in any jurisdiction of Canada, are not the same, the
registrant must deliver the written notice to the following:

(a) the registrant’s principal regulator; and

(b) the principal regulator of the firm identified in paragraph 11.9(1)(a) or 11.9(1)(b) as applicable, if registered in
any jurisdiction of Canada identified in paragraph 11.9(1)(a) or 11.9(1)(b).

Subsection (2) does not apply to

(a) section 8.18 [international dealer], and
(b) section 8.26 [international adviser].
Categories of registration for individuals
Individual categories

The following are the categories of registration for an individual who is required, under securities legislation, to be
registered to act on behalf of a registered firm:

(a) dealing representative;

(b) advising representative;

(c) associate advising representative;
(d) ultimate designated person;

(e) chief compliance officer.

An individual registered in the category of

(a) dealing representative may act as a dealer or an underwriter in respect of a security that the individual’s
sponsoring firm is permitted to trade or underwrite,

(b) advising representative may act as an adviser in respect of a security that the individual’s sponsoring firm is
permitted to advise on,

(c) associate advising representative may act as an adviser in respect of a security that the individual's
sponsoring firm is permitted to advise on if the advice has been approved under subsection 4.2(1) [associate
aadvising representatives — pre-approval of advice],

(d) ultimate designated person must perform the functions set out in section 5.1 [responsibilities of the ultimate
designated person], and

(e) chief compliance officer must perform the functions set out in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief
compliance officer].

Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for individuals as in subsection 2.1(1) are set out under section 25 of the
Securities Act (Ontario).
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2.2 Client mobility exemption — individuals
(1) The registration requirement does not apply to an individual if all of the following apply:
(a) the individual is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative in the individual's

principal jurisdiction;
(b) the individual's sponsoring firm is registered in the firm’s principal jurisdiction;

(c) the individual does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than as he or she is
permitted to in his or her principal jurisdiction according to the individual’s registration in that jurisdiction;

(d) the individual does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than for 5 or fewer
eligible clients;

(e) the individual complies with Part 13 Dealing with clients — individuals and firms;
() the individual deals fairly, honestly and in good faith in the course of his or her dealings with an eligible client;
(9) before first acting as a dealer or adviser for an eligible client, the individual’s sponsoring firm has disclosed to
]Eif;ﬁmclient that the individual, and if the firm is relying on section 8.30 Client mobility exemption — firms, the
(i) is exempt from registration in the local jurisdiction, and
(ii) is not subject to requirements otherwise applicable under local securities legislation.
(2) If an individual relies on the exemption in this section, the individual’'s sponsoring firm must submit a completed Form

31-103F3 Use of Mobility Exemption to the securities regulatory authority of the local jurisdiction as soon as possible
after the individual first relies on this section.

23 Individuals acting for investment fund managers

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to an individual acting on behalf of a registered
investment fund manager.

Part 3 Registration requirements — individuals
Division 1 General proficiency requirements

31 Definitions

In this Part

“Branch Manager Proficiency Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by the RESP Dealers Association of
Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or
succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and
content of the first-mentioned examination;

“Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so
named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that
examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-
mentioned examination;

“Canadian Investment Manager designation” means the designation earned through the Canadian investment manager program
prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every
program that preceded that program, or succeeded that program, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content
when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned program;

“Canadian Securities Course Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so
named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that
examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-
mentioned examination;
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“Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc.
and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or
succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and
content of the first-mentioned examination;

“CFA Charter” means the charter earned through the Chartered Financial Analyst program prepared and administered by the
CFA Institute and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every program that preceded that program, or
succeeded that program, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and
content of the first-mentioned program;

“Exempt Market Products Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on the
day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that examination,
that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned
examination;

“Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc.
and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or
succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and
content of the first-mentioned examination;

“Mutual Fund Dealers Compliance Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so
named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that
examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-
mentioned examination;

“New Entrants Course Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by CSI Global Education Inc. and so named
on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or succeeded that
examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and content of the first-
mentioned examination;

“PDO Exam” means

(a) the Officers’, Partners’ and Directors’ Exam prepared and administered by the IFSE Institute and so named on
the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or
succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to
the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination, or

(b) the Partners, Directors and Senior Officers Course Exam prepared and administered by CSI Global Education
Inc. and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that
examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content
when compared to the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination;

“Sales Representative Proficiency Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by the RESP Dealers Association
of Canada and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that examination, or
succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to the scope and
content of the first-mentioned examination;

“Series 7 Exam” means the examination prepared and administered by the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority in the United
States of America and so named on the day this Instrument comes into force, and every examination that preceded that
examination, or succeeded that examination, that does not have a significantly reduced scope and content when compared to
the scope and content of the first-mentioned examination.

3.2 U.S. equivalency

In this Part, an individual is not required to have passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam if the individual has passed the
Series 7 Exam and the New Entrants Course Exam.

3.3 Time limits on examination requirements

1) For the purpose of this Part, an individual is deemed to have not passed an examination unless the individual passed
the examination not more than 36 months before the date of his or her application for registration.
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(2)

)

4)

Subsection (1) does not apply if the individual passed the examination more than 36 months before the date of his or
her application and has met one of the following conditions:

(a) the individual was registered in the same category in any jurisdiction of Canada at any time during the 36-
month period before the date of his or her application;

(b) the individual has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience during the 36-month period
before the date of his or her application.

For the purpose of paragraph (2)(a), an individual is not considered to have been registered during any period in which
the individual’s registration was suspended.

Subsection (1) does not apply to the examination requirements in:

(a) section 3.7 [scholarship plan dealer — dealing representative] if the individual was registered in a jurisdiction of
Canada as a dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer on and since September 28, 2009; and

(b) section 3.9 [exempt market dealer — dealing representative] if the individual was registered as a dealing
representative of an exempt market dealer in Ontario or Newfoundland and Labrador on and since September
28, 2009.

Division 2 Education and experience requirements

3.4

(1

(2)

3.5

Proficiency - initial and ongoing

An individual must not perform an activity that requires registration unless the individual has the education, training and
experience that a reasonable person would consider necessary to perform the activity competently, including
understanding the structure, features and risks of each security the individual recommends.

A chief compliance officer must not perform an activity set out in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance
officer] unless the individual has the education, training and experience that a reasonable person would consider
necessary to perform the activity competently.

Mutual fund dealer — dealing representative

A dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in paragraph 7.1(2)(b)
unless any of the following apply:

3.6

(a) the individual has passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course
Exam or the Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam;

(b) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager — advising representativel;

(c) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience
in the 36-month period before applying for registration;

(d) the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager — advising representative] because of subsection
16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

Mutual fund dealer — chief compliance officer

A mutual fund dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a
chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

(a) the individual has:

(i) passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam or the
Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam;

(ii) passed the PDO Exam, the Mutual Fund Dealers Compliance Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers
Qualifying Exam; and
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(b)
(c)

(iii) gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying
for registration;

the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager — chief compliance officer];

section 3.13 [portfolio manager — chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because
of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

3.7 Scholarship plan dealer — dealing representative

A dealing representative of a scholarship plan dealer must not act as a dealer in respect of the securities listed in paragraph
7.1(2)(c) unless the individual has passed the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam.

3.8 Scholarship plan dealer — chief compliance officer

A scholarship plan dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating
a chief compliance officer] unless the individual has:

(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

passed the Sales Representative Proficiency Exam;
passed the Branch Manager Proficiency Exam;
passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam, and

gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying for
registration.

3.9 Exempt market dealer — dealing representative

A dealing representative of an exempt market dealer must not perform an activity listed in paragraph 7.1(2)(d) unless any of the

following apply:

(a)
(b)
(c)

(d)
(e)

the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam;
the individual has passed the Exempt Market Products Exam;

the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience
in the 36-month period before applying for registration;

the individual satisfies the conditions set out in section 3.11 [portfolio manager — advising representative];

the individual is exempt from section 3.11 [portfolio manager — advising representative] because of subsection
16.10(1) [proficiency for dealing and advising representatives].

3.10 Exempt market dealer — chief compliance officer

An exempt market dealer must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating
a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

(@)

(b)
(c)

the individual has:

(i) passed the Exempt Market Products Exam or the Canadian Securities Course Exam;
(ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam; and
(iii) gained 12 months of relevant securities industry experience in the 36-month period before applying

for registration;
the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager — chief compliance officer];

section 3.13 [portfolio manager — chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because
of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].
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3.1 Portfolio manager — advising representative

An advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless any of
the following apply:

(a) the individual has earned a CFA Charter and has gained 12 months of relevant investment management
experience in the 36-month period before applying for registration;

(b) the individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 48 months of
relevant investment management experience, 12 months of which was gained in the 36-month period before
applying for registration.

3.12 Portfolio manager — associate advising representative

An associate advising representative of a portfolio manager must not act as an adviser on behalf of the portfolio manager unless
any of the following apply:

(a) the individual has completed Level 1 of the Chartered Financial Analyst program and has gained 24 months of
relevant investment management experience;

(b) the individual has received the Canadian Investment Manager designation and has gained 24 months of
relevant investment management experience.

3.13 Portfolio manager — chief compliance officer

A portfolio manager must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1) [designating a
chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:

(a) the individual has
(i) earned a CFA Charter or a professional designation as a lawyer, Chartered Accountant, Certified
General Accountant or Certified Management Accountant in a jurisdiction of Canada, a notary in

Québec, or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction,

(i) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual
has earned the CFA Charter, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, and

(iii) either
A) gained 36 months of relevant securities experience while working at an investment dealer, a
registered adviser or an investment fund manager, or
B) provided professional services in the securities industry for 36 months and also worked at a
registered dealer, a registered adviser or an investment fund manager for 12 months;
(b) the individual has passed the Canadian Securities Course Exam and either the PDO Exam or the Chief

Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and any of the following apply:

(i) the individual has worked at an investment dealer or a registered adviser for 5 years, including for 36
months in a compliance capacity;

(i) the individual has worked for 5 years at a Canadian financial institution in a compliance capacity
relating to portfolio management and also worked at a registered dealer or a registered adviser for 12
months;
(c) the individual has passed either the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and has

met the requirements of section 3.11 [portfolio manager — advising representative).
3.14 Investment fund manager — chief compliance officer

An investment fund manager must not designate an individual as its chief compliance officer under subsection 11.3(1)
[designating a chief compliance officer] unless any of the following apply:
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(a) the individual has
(i) earned a CFA Charter or a professional designation as a lawyer, Chartered Accountant, Certified
General Accountant or Certified Management Accountant in a jurisdiction of Canada, a notary in
Québec, or the equivalent in a foreign jurisdiction,

(i) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam and, unless the individual
has earned the CFA Charter, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, and

(iii) either

A) gained 36 months of relevant securities experience while working at a registered dealer, a
registered adviser or an investment fund manager, or

B) provided professional services in the securities industry for 36 months and also worked in a
relevant capacity at an investment fund manager for 12 months;

(b) the individual has

(i) passed the Canadian Investment Funds Course Exam, the Canadian Securities Course Exam, or the
Investment Funds in Canada Course Exam,

(ii) passed the PDO Exam or the Chief Compliance Officers Qualifying Exam, and

(iii) gained 5 years of relevant securities experience while working at a registered dealer, registered
adviser or an investment fund manager, including 36 months in a compliance capacity;

(c) the individual has met the requirements of section 3.13 [portfolio manager — chief compliance officer];

(d) section 3.13 [portfolio manager — chief compliance officer] does not apply in respect of the individual because
of subsection 16.9(2) [registration of chief compliance officers].

Division 3 ~ Membership in a self-regulatory organization

3.15

(1)

(2)

3.16

(1)

(1.1)

(2)

Who must be approved by an SRO before registration

A dealing representative of an investment dealer that is a member of IIROC must be an “approved person” as defined
under the rules of IIROC.

Except in Québec, a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA must be an
“approved person” as defined under the rules of the MFDA.

Exemptions from certain requirements for SRO-approved persons

The following sections do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of_an investment dealer
that is a member of IIROC:

(a) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];

(b) section 13.3 [suitability];

(c) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money].

Subsection (1) only applies to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of an investment dealer that is a
member of [IROC in respect of a requirement specified in any of paragraphs (1)(a) to (c) if the registered individual

complies with the corresponding IIROC provisions that are in effect.

The following sections do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of_ a mutual fund dealer
that is a member of the MFDA:

(a) section 13.3 [suitability];

(b) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money].
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(2.1) Subsection (2) only applies to a registered individual who is a dealing representative of_a mutual fund dealer that is a
member of the MFDA in respect of a requirement specified in paragraph (2)(a) or (b) if the registered individual
complies with the corresponding MFDA provisions that are in effect.

(3) In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (2) do not apply to a registered individual who is a dealing
representative of a mutual fund dealer to the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (2) are
applicable to the registered individual under the regulations in Québec.

Part4 Restrictions on registered individuals

41 Restriction on acting for another registered firm

(1) A firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada must not permit an individual to act as a dealing, advising or associate
advising representative of the registered firm if either of the following apply:

(a) the individual acts as an officer, partner or director of another firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada that
is not an affiliate of the first-mentioned registered firm;

(b) the individual is registered as a dealing, advising or associate advising representative of another firm
registered in any jurisdiction of Canada.

(2) Paragraph (1)(b) does not apply in respect of a representative whose registration as a dealing, advising or associate
advising representative of more than one registered firm was granted before July 11, 2011.

4.2 Associate advising representatives — pre-approval of advice

(1) An associate advising representative of a registered adviser must not advise on securities unless, before giving the
advice, the advice has been approved by an individual designated by the registered firm under subsection (2).

(2) A registered adviser must designate, for an associate advising representative, an advising representative to review the
advice of the associate advising representative.

(3) No later than 7 days following the date of a designation under subsection (2), a registered adviser must provide the
regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority with the names of the advising representative and the
associate advising representative who are the subject of the designation.

Part 5 Ultimate designated person and chief compliance officer

5.1 Responsibilities of the ultimate designated person

The ultimate designated person of a registered firm must do all of the following:

(a) supervise the activities of the firm that are directed towards ensuring compliance with securities legislation by
the firm and each individual acting on the firm’s behalf;

(b) promote compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation.
5.2 Responsibilities of the chief compliance officer
The chief compliance officer of a registered firm must do all of the following:

(a) establish and maintain policies and procedures for assessing compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on
its behalf, with securities legislation;

(b) monitor and assess compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities legislation;
(c) report to the ultimate designated person of the firm as soon as possible if the chief compliance officer
becomes aware of any circumstances indicating that the firm, or any individual acting on its behalf, may be in

non-compliance with securities legislation and any of the following apply:

(i) the non-compliance creates, in the opinion of a reasonable person, a risk of harm to a client;
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(i) the non-compliance creates, in the opinion of a reasonable person, a risk of harm to the capital
markets;
(i) the non-compliance is part of a pattern of non-compliance;
(d) submit an annual report to the firm’s board of directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm,
for the purpose of assessing compliance by the firm, and individuals acting on its behalf, with securities
legislation.

Part 6 Suspension and revocation of registration — individuals

6.1 If individual ceases to have authority to act for firm

If a registered individual ceases to have authority to act as a registered individual on behalf of his or her sponsoring firm
because of the end of, or a change in, the individual’s employment, partnership, or agency relationship with the firm, the
individual’s registration with the firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.2 If IROC approval is revoked or suspended

If IROC revokes or suspends a registered individual’s approval in respect of an investment dealer, the individual's registration
as a dealing representative of the investment dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

6.3 If MFDA approval is revoked or suspended

Except in Québec, if the MFDA revokes or suspends a registered individual's approval in respect of a mutual fund dealer, the
individual’s registration as a dealing representative of the mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under
securities legislation.

6.4 If sponsoring firm is suspended

If a registered firm’s registration in a category is suspended, the registration of each registered dealing, advising or associate
advising representative acting on behalf of the firm in that category is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities
legislation.

6.5 Dealing and advising activities suspended

If an individual’s registration in a category is suspended, the individual must not act as a dealer, an underwriter or an adviser, as
the case may be, under that category.

6.6 Revocation of a suspended registration — individual

If a registration of an individual has been suspended under this Part and it has not been reinstated, the registration is revoked on
the 2" anniversary of the suspension.

6.7 Exception for individuals involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 6.6, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended individual is commenced under securities legislation or
under the rules of an SRO, the individual’s registration remains suspended.

6.8 Application of Part 6 in Ontario

Other than section 6.5 [dealing and advising activities suspended], this Part does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, measures governing suspension in section 29 of the Securities Act (Ontario) are similar to those in Parts 6
and 10.

Part 7 Categories of registration for firms
71 Dealer categories

(1) The following are the categories of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to
be registered as a dealer:
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(a) investment dealer;
(b) mutual fund dealer;
(c) scholarship plan dealer;
(d) exempt market dealer;
(e) restricted dealer.
(2) A person or company registered in the category of
(a) investment dealer may act as a dealer or an underwriter in respect of any security,
(b) mutual fund dealer may act as a dealer in respect of any security of
0] a mutual fund, or
(ii) an investment fund that is a labour-sponsored investment fund corporation or labour-sponsored
venture capital corporation under legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada,
(c) scholarship plan dealer may act as a dealer in respect of a security of a scholarship plan, an educational plan
or an educational trust,
(d) exempt market dealer may
(i) act as a dealer by trading a security that is distributed under an exemption from the prospectus
requirement,-whether-er-not-a-prospectus-was-filed-in-respect-of the distribution;
i ler by tradin rity, if all of the followin ly:
A) . istribution:
B) {i——subjectto-subsection{5),-act-as—a-dealer by-tradinga-seeurity-that.an exemption
from the prospectus requirement would be available to the seller if the trade were a
distribution;-weuld-be-exempt-from-the-prospectusrequirement,-or;
he cl f rity is not li rtr n a marketpl r
(iii) [repealed]
(iv) act as an underwriter in respect of a distribution of securities that is made under an exemption from
the prospectus requirement;
(e) restricted dealer may act as a dealer or an underwriter in accordance with the terms, conditions, restrictions or

requirements applied to its registration.

(3) [repealed]

(4) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

(5) An-exemptmarket-dealermustnotirade-a-security-if[repealed]

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for firms acting as dealers as in subsection 7.1(1) are set out under
subsection 26(2) of the Securities Act (Ontario).
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7.2 Adviser categories

1) The following are the categories of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to
be registered as an adviser:

(a) portfolio manager;
(b) restricted portfolio manager.
(2) A person or company registered in the category of
(a) portfolio manager may act as an adviser in respect of any security, and
(b) restricted portfolio manager may act as an adviser in respect of any security in accordance with the terms,

conditions, restrictions or requirements applied to its registration.

(3) Subsection (1) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, the same categories of registration for firms acting as advisers as in subsection 7.2(1) are set out under
subsection 26(6) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

7.3 Investment fund manager category

The category of registration for a person or company that is required, under securities legislation, to be registered as an
investment fund manager is “investment fund manager”.

Part 8 Exemptions from the requirement to register

Division 1 Exemptions from dealer and underwriter registration

8.0.1 General condition to dealer registration requirement exemptions

The exemptions in this Division are not available to a person or company if the person or company is registered in the local
jurisdiction and if their category of registration permits the person or company to act as a dealer or trade in a security for which
the exemption is provided.

8.1 Interpretation of “trade” in Québec

In this Part, in Québec, "trade" refers to any of the following activities:

(a) the activities described in the definition of "dealer" in section 5 of the Securities Act (R.S.Q., c. V-1.1),
including the following activities:

(i) the sale or disposition of a security by onerous title, whether the terms of payment are on margin,
installment or otherwise, but does not include a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities in
connection with a debt or the purchase of a security, except as provided in paragraph (b);

(ii) participation as a trader in any transaction in a security through the facilities of an exchange or a
quotation and trade reporting system;

(iii) the receipt by a registrant of an order to buy or sell a security;

(b) a transfer or the giving in guarantee of securities of an issuer from the holdings of a control person in
connection with a debt.

8.2 Definition of “securities” in Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

() Despite section 1.2, in-Alberta; British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to “securities” in this
Division excludes “exchange contracts”.

July 7, 2016 49 (2016), 39 OSCB (Supp-2)



Annex B: NI 31-103, blacklined to show proposed changes Supplement to the OSC Bulletin

8.3 Interpretation — exemption from underwriter registration requirement

In this Division, an exemption from the dealer registration requirement is an exemption from the underwriter registration
requirement.

8.4 Person or company not in the business of trading in British Columbia, Manitoba and New Brunswick

(1) In British Columbia and New Brunswick, a person or company is exempt from the dealer registration requirement if the
person or company

(a) is not engaged in the business of trading in securities or exchange contracts as a principal or agent, and

(b) does not hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in the business of trading in securities or exchange
contracts as a principal or agent.

(2) In Manitoba, a person or company is exempt from the dealer registration requirement if the person or company
(a) is not engaged in the business of trading in securities as a principal or agent, and
(b) does not hold himself, herself or itself out as engaging in the business of trading in securities as a principal or
agent.
8.5 Trades through or to a registered dealer

The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of a trade in a security if either of the
following applies:

(a) the trade is made through a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade
unless, in furtherance of the trade, the person or company seeking the exemption solicits or contacts directly
any purchaser or prospective purchaser in relation to the trade;

(b) the trade is made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category
that permits the trade.

8.5.1 Trades through a registered dealer by registered adviser
The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a registered adviser, or an advising representative or associate advising
representative acting on behalf of the registered adviser, in respect of trading activities that are incidental to its providing advice
to a client, if the trade is made through a dealer registered in a category that permits the trade or a dealer operating under an
exemption from the dealer registration requirement.
8.6 Investment fund trades by adviser to managed account
(1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply to a registered adviser, or an adviser that is exempt from
registration under section 8.26 [international adviser], in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if bethall
of the following apply:
(a) the adviser acts as the fund’s adviser-and;
(a.1) the adviser or an affiliate of the adviser acts as the fund’s investment fund manager;

(b) the trade is to a managed account of a client of the adviser.

(2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available if the managed account or investment fund was created or is used
primarily for the purpose of qualifying for the exemption.

(3) An adviser that relies on subsection (1) must provide written notice to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities
regulatory authority that it is relying on the exemption within 10 days of its first use of the exemption.

8.7 Investment fund reinvestment

(1) Subject to subsections (2), (3), (4) and (5), the dealer registration requirement does not apply to an investment fund, or
the investment fund manager of the fund, in respect of a trade in a security with a security holder of the investment fund
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if the trade is permitted by a plan of the investment fund and is in a security of the investment fund’'s own issue and if
any of the following apply:

(a) a dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources payable in respect of the investment
fund’s securities is applied to the purchase of the security that is of the same class or series as the securities
to which the dividends or distributions are attributable;

(b) the security holder makes an optional cash payment to purchase the security of the investment fund and both
of the following apply:

(i) the security is of the same class or series of securities described in paragraph (a) that trade on a
marketplace;

(ii) the aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash payment does not exceed, in the
financial year of the investment fund during which the trade takes place, 2 per cent of the issued and
outstanding securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of the financial year.

(2) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available unless the plan that permits the trade is available to every security
holder in Canada to which the dividend or distribution is available.

(3) The exemption in subsection (1) is not available if a sales charge is payable on a trade described in the subsection.

(4) At the time of the trade, if the investment fund is a reporting issuer and in continuous distribution, the investment fund
must have set out in the prospectus under which the distribution is made

(a) details of any deferred or contingent sales charge or redemption fee that is payable at the time of the
redemption of the security, and

(b) any right that the security holder has to elect to receive cash instead of securities on the payment of a
dividend or making of a distribution by the investment fund and instructions on how the right can be exercised.

(5) At the time of the trade, if the investment fund is a reporting issuer and is not in continuous distribution, the investment
fund must provide the information required by subsection (4) in its prospectus, annual information form or a material
change report.

8.8 Additional investment in investment funds

The dealer registration requirement does not apply to an investment fund, or the investment fund manager of the fund, in
respect of a trade in a security of the investment fund’'s own issue with a security holder of the investment fund if all of the
following apply:

(a) the security holder initially acquired securities of the investment fund as principal for an acquisition cost of not
less than $150,000 paid in cash at the time of the acquisition;

(b) the trade is in respect of a security of the same class or series as the securities initially acquired, as described
in paragraph (a);

(c) the security holder, as at the date of the trade, holds securities of the investment fund and one or both of the
following apply:

0] the acquisition cost of the securities being held was not less than $150,000;
(ii) the net asset value of the securities being held is not less than $150,000.
8.9 Additional investment in investment funds if initial purchase before September 14, 2005

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade by an investment fund in a security of its own issue to a
purchaser that initially acquired a security of the same class as principal before September 14, 2005 if all of the following apply:

(a) the security was initially acquired under any of the following provisions:
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(b)
(c)

0] in Alberta, section 86(e) and paragraph 131(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Alberta) as they existed prior
to their repeal by sections 9(a) and 13 of the Securities Amendment Act (Alberta), 2003 SA ¢.32 and
sections 66.2 and 122.2 of the Alberta Securities Commission Rules (General);

(ii) in British Columbia, sections 45(2) (5) and (22), and 74(2) (4) and (19) of the Securities Act (British
Columbia);

(iii) in Manitoba, section 19(3) and paragraph 58(1)(a) of the Securities Act (Manitoba) and section 90 of
the Securities Regulation MR 491/88R,;

(iv) in New Brunswick, section 2.8 of Local Rule 45-501 Prospectus and Registration Exemptions;

(v) in Newfoundland and Labrador, paragraphs 36(1)(e) and 73(1)(d) of the Securities Act
(Newfoundland and Labrador);

(vi) in Nova Scotia, paragraphs 41(1)(e) and 77(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Nova Scotia);

(vii) in Northwest Territories, sections 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;

(viii) in Nunavut, sections 3(c) and (z) of Blanket Order No. 1;

(ix) in Ontario, section 35(1)5 and paragraph 72(1)(d) of the Securities Act (Ontario) as they existed prior

to their repeal by sections 5 and 11 of the Securities Act (Ontario) S.0. 2009, c. 18, Sch. 26 and
section 2.12 of Ontario Securities Commission Rule 45-501 Exempt Distributions that came into force
on January 12, 2004;

(x) in Prince Edward Island, paragraph 2(3)(d) of the former Securities Act (Prince Edward Island) and
Prince Edward Island Local Rule 45-512 Exempt Distributions - Exemption for Purchase of Mutual
Fund Securities;

(xi) in Québec, former section 51 and subsection 155.1(2) of the Securities Act (Québec);

(xii) in Saskatchewan, paragraphs 39(1)(e) and 81(1)(d) of The Securities Act, 1988 (Saskatchewan);

the trade is for a security of the same class or series as the initial trade;

the security holder, as at the date of the trade, holds securities of the investment fund that have one or both of
the following characteristics:

(i) an acquisition cost of not less than the minimum amount prescribed by securities legislation referred
to in paragraph (a) under which the initial trade was conducted;

(i) a net asset value of not less than the minimum amount prescribed by securities legislation referred to
in paragraph (a) under which the initial trade was conducted.

8.10 Private investment club

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if all of the following

apply:
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

(e)

the fund has no more than 50 beneficial security holders;
the fund does not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public;
the fund does not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public;

the fund does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or administration advice in
respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees;

the fund, for the purpose of financing its operations, requires security holders to make contributions in
proportion to the value of the securities held by them.
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8.1 Private investment fund — loan and trust pools

1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund if all of the
following apply:

(a) the fund is administered by a trust company or trust corporation that is registered or authorized by an
enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;

(b) the fund has no promoter or investment fund manager other than the trust company or trust corporation
referred to in paragraph (a);

(c) the fund commingles the money of different estates and trusts for the purpose of facilitating investment.

(2) Despite subsection (1), a trust company or trust corporation registered under the laws of Prince Edward Island that is
not registered under the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada) or under comparable legislation in another
jurisdiction of Canada is not a trust company or trust corporation for the purpose of paragraph (1)(a).

8.12 Mortgages

1) In this section, “syndicated mortgage” means a mortgage in which two or more persons or companies participate,
directly or indirectly, as lenders in the debt obligation that is secured by the mortgage.

(2) Subject to subsection (3), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a mortgage on real
property in a jurisdiction of Canada by a person or company who is registered or licensed, or exempted from
registration or licensing, under mortgage brokerage or mortgage dealer legislation of that jurisdiction.

(3) In Alberta, British Columbia, Manitoba, Québec and Saskatchewan, subsection (2) does not apply in respect of a trade
in a syndicated mortgage.

(4) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario a similar exemption from the dealer registration requirement is provided under subsection 35(4) of the
Securities Act (Ontario).

8.13 Personal property security legislation

(1) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade to a person or company, other than an
individual in a security evidencing indebtedness secured by or under a security agreement, secured in accordance with
personal property security legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada that provides for the granting of security in personal
property.

(2) This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario a similar exemption from the dealer registration requirement is provided under subsection 35(2) of the
Securities Act (Ontario).

8.14 Variable insurance contract

(1) In this section

» o« » o«

“contract”, “group insurance”, “insurance company”, “life insurance” and “policy” have the respective meanings assigned to them
in the legislation referenced opposite the name of the local jurisdiction in Appendix A of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus
Exemptions;

“variable insurance contract’” means a contract of life insurance under which the interest of the purchaser is valued for purposes
of conversion or surrender by reference to the value of a proportionate interest in a specified portfolio of assets.

(2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a variable insurance contract by an
insurance company if the variable insurance contract is

(a) a contract of group insurance,
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8.15

(1)

(2)

(b) a whole life insurance contract providing for the payment at maturity of an amount not less than 75% of the
premium paid up to age 75 years for a benefit payable at maturity,

(c) an arrangement for the investment of policy dividends and policy proceeds in a separate and distinct fund to
which contributions are made only from policy dividends and policy proceeds, or

(d) a variable life annuity.
Schedule lll banks and cooperative associations — evidence of deposit

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in an evidence of deposit issued by a Schedule
IIl bank or an association governed by the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada).

This section does not apply in Ontario or Alberta.

Note: In Ontario, subsection 8.15(1) is not required because the security described in the exemption is excluded from the
definition of “security” in subsection 1(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

In Alberta, subsection 8.15(1) is not required because the exemption is provided under subsection 1(ggg)(v)(B) of the
Securities Act (Alberta).

8.16

(1

(2)

©)

8.17

(1)

Plan administrator

In this section

“consultant” has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions;
“executive officer” has the same meaning as in section 1.1 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions;
“permitted assign” has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions;

“plan” means a plan or program established or maintained by an issuer providing for the acquisition of securities of the
issuer by employees, executive officers, directors or consultants of the issuer or of a related entity of the issuer;

“plan administrator” means a trustee, custodian, or administrator, acting on behalf of, or for the benefit of, employees,
executive officers, directors or consultants of an issuer or of a related entity of an issuer;

“related entity” has the same meaning as in section 2.22 of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions.
The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade made pursuant to a plan of the issuer in a

security of an issuer, or an option to acquire a security of the issuer, made by the issuer, a control person of the issuer,
a related entity of the issuer, or a plan administrator of the issuer with any of the following:

(a) the issuer;

(b) a current or former employee, executive officer, director or consultant of the issuer or a related entity of the
issuer;

(c) a permitted assign of a person or company referred to in paragraph (b).

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a security of an issuer, or an option to
acquire a security of the issuer, made by a plan administrator of the issuer if

(a) the trade is pursuant to a plan of the issuer, and

(b) the conditions in section 2.14 of National Instrument 45-102 Resale of Securities are satisfied.

Reinvestment plan

Subject to subsections (3), (4) and (5), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of the following

trades by an issuer, or by a trustee, custodian or administrator acting for or on behalf of the issuer, to a security holder
of the issuer if the trades are permitted by a plan of the issuer:
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(2)

()

(4)
)

8.18

(1)

(2)

©)

(a) a trade in a security of the issuer's own issue if a dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or
other sources payable in respect of the issuer’s securities is applied to the purchase of the security;

(b) subject to subsection (2), a trade in a security of the issuer's own issue if the security holder makes an
optional cash payment to purchase the security of the issuer that trades on a marketplace.

The aggregate number of securities issued under the optional cash payment referred to in paragraph (1)(b) must not
exceed, in any financial year of the issuer during which the trade takes place, 2% of the issued and outstanding
securities of the class to which the plan relates as at the beginning of the financial year.

A plan that permits the trades described in subsection (1) must be available to every security holder in Canada to which
the dividend or distribution out of earnings, surplus, capital or other sources is available.

This section is not available in respect of a trade in a security of an investment fund.

Subject to section 8.4 [transition — reinvestment plan] of National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus Exemptions, if the
security traded under a plan described in subsection (1) is of a different class or series than the class or series of the
security to which the dividend or distribution is attributable, the issuer or the trustee, custodian or administrator must
have provided to each participant that is eligible to receive a security under the plan either a description of the material
attributes and characteristics of the security traded under the plan or notice of a source from which the participant can
obtain the information without charge.

International dealer

In this section

“foreign security” means

(a) a security issued by an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction, or

(b) a security issued by a government of a foreign jurisdiction.

Subject to subsections (3) and (4), the dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of any of the following:

(a) an activity, other than a sale of a security, that is reasonably necessary to facilitate a distribution of securities
that are offered primarily in a foreign jurisdiction;

(b) a trade in a debt security with a permitted client during the security’s distribution, if the debt security is offered
primarily in a foreign jurisdiction and a prospectus has not been filed with a Canadian securities regulatory
authority for the distribution;

(c) a trade in a debt security that is a foreign security with a permitted client, other than during the security’s
distribution;
(d) a trade in a foreign security with a permitted client, unless the trade is made during the security’s distribution

under a prospectus that has been filed with a Canadian securities regulatory authority;

(e) a trade in a foreign security with an investment dealer;

(f) a trade in any security with an investment dealer that is purchasing as principal.

The exemption under subsection (2) is not available to a person or company unless all of the following apply:

(a) the head office or principal place of business of the person or company is in a foreign jurisdiction;

(b) the person or company is registered under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head
office or principal place of business is located in a category of registration that permits it to carry on the

activities in that jurisdiction that registration as a dealer would permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;

(c) the person or company engages in the business of a dealer in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office
or principal place of business is located;

(d) the person or company is trading as principal or agent for
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4)

®)

(6)

(7

8.19

(1

(2)

0] the issuer of the securities,
(ii) a permitted client, or
(iii) a person or company that is not a resident of Canada;
(e) the person or company has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2

Submission to Jurisdiction and Appointment of Agent for Service.

The exemption under subsection (2) is not available to a person or company in respect of a trade with a permitted client
unless one of the following applies:

(a) the permitted client is a person or company registered under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of
Canada as an adviser or dealer;

(b) the person or company has notified the permitted client of all of the following:
0] the person or company is not registered in the local jurisdiction to make the trade;
(ii) the foreign jurisdiction in which the head office or principal place of business of the person or

company is located;

(iii) all or substantially all of the assets of the person or company may be situated outside of Canada;

(iv) here may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the person or company because of the above;

(v) the name and address of the agent for service of process of the person or company in the local
jurisdiction.

A person or company that relied on the exemption in subsection (2) during the 12-month period preceding December 1
of a year must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that
year.
In Ontario, subsection (5) does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment
requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502
Fees.

The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that is exempt from the dealer registration
requirement under this section if the person or company provides advice to a client and the advice is

(a) in connection with an activity or trade described under subsection (2), and

(b) not in respect of a managed account of the client.

Self-directed registered education savings plan

In this section

"self-directed RESP" means an educational savings plan registered under the Income Tax Act (Canada)

(a) that is structured so that contributions by a subscriber to the plan are deposited directly into an account in the
name of the subscriber, and

(b) under which the subscriber maintains control and direction over the plan that enables the subscriber to direct
how the assets of the plan are to be held, invested or reinvested subject to compliance with the Income Tax
Act (Canada).

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in a self-directed RESP to a subscriber if both
of the following apply:

(a) the trade is made by any of the following:
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8.20

(1)

2
()
8.20.1

0] a dealing representative of a mutual fund dealer who is acting on behalf of the mutual fund dealer in
respect of securities listed in paragraph 7.1(2)(b);

(i) a Canadian financial institution;
(iii) in Ontario, a financial intermediary;
(b) the self-directed RESP restricts its investments in securities to securities in which the person or company who

trades the self-directed RESP is permitted to trade.
Exchange contract — Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan

In-Alberta; British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, the dealer registration requirement does not apply to
a person or company in respect of a trade in an exchange contract by the person or company if one of the following
applies:

(a) the trade is made through a registered dealer, if the dealer is registered in a category that permits the trade
unless, in furtherance of the trade, the person or company seeking the exemption solicits or contacts directly
any purchaser or prospective purchaser in relation to the trade;

(b) the trade is made to a registered dealer who is purchasing as principal, if the dealer is registered in a category
that permits the trade

derlvatlve on an exchange gursuant to standardlzed terms determlned by the exchange and cIeared b¥ aclearlng
agency if one of the following applies:

(a) the trade is made through a registered dealer, if the dealer is reqgistered in a category that permits the trade
nl in furtheran f the tr. h rson or compan king the exemption solicits or con irectl

rch I Or pri iv rch r in relation he tr

that germlts thetrade

[repealed)]
[repealed]

Exchange contract trades through or to a registered dealer - Alberta, British Columbia, New Brunswick and
Saskatchewan

Fhe(1) _In British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, the dealer registration requirement does not apply to a

registered adviser, or an advising representative or associate advising representative acting on behalf of the registered
adviser, in respect of trading activities related to exchange contracts that are incidental to its providing advice to a
client, if the trade is made through a dealer registered in a category that permits the trade, or a dealer operating under
an exemption from the dealer registration requirement.

8.21

(1)

rade in a derlvatlve on an exchange gursuant to standardlzed terms determmedbg the exchange and clearedb;g :
clearing agency that are incidental to its providing advice to a client, if the trade is made through a dealer registered in
a category that permits the trade or a dealer operating under an exemption from the dealer registration requirement.

Specified debt
In this section
“permitted supranational agency” means any of the following:

(a) the African Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing the African Development Bank
which came into force on September 10, 1964, that Canada became a member of on December 30, 1982;
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(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

()

(9

the Asian Development Bank, established under a resolution adopted by the United Nations Economic and
Social Commission for Asia and the Pacific in 1965;

the Caribbean Development Bank, established by the Agreement Establishing the Caribbean Development
Bank which came into force on January 26, 1970, as amended, that Canada is a founding member of;

the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, established by the Agreement Establishing the
European Bank for Reconstruction and Development and approved by the European Bank for Reconstruction
and Development Agreement Act (Canada), that Canada is a founding member of;

the Inter-American Development Bank, established by the Agreement establishing the Inter-American
Development Bank which became effective December 30, 1959, as amended from time to time, that Canada
is a member of;

the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, established by the Agreement for an International
Bank for Reconstruction and Development approved by the Bretton Woods and Related Agreements Act
(Canada);

the International Finance Corporation, established by Articles of Agreement approved by the Bretton Woods
and Related Agreements Act (Canada).

(2) The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade in any of the following:

(a)

(b)

(c)
(d)

(e)

()
()]

a debt security issued by or guaranteed by the Government of Canada or the government of a jurisdiction of
Canada;

a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a government of a foreign jurisdiction if the debt security has a
designated rating from a designated rating organization or its DRO affiliate;

a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a municipal corporation in Canada;

a debt security secured by or payable out of rates or taxes levied under the law of a jurisdiction of Canada on
property in the jurisdiction and collectible by or through the municipality in which the property is situated;

a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule Il bank, other than
debt securities that are subordinate in right of payment to deposits held by the issuer or guarantor of those
debt securities;

a debt security issued by the Comité de gestion de la taxe scolaire de I'lle de Montréal;

a debt security issued by or guaranteed by a permitted supranational agency if the debt securities are payable
in the currency of Canada or the United States of America.

(3) Paragraphs (2)(a), (c) and (d) do not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, exemptions from the dealer registration requirement similar to those in paragraphs 8.21(a), (c) and (d) are
provided under paragraph 2 of subsection 35(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.22 Small security holder selling and purchase arrangements

1) In this section

“exchange” means

(a)
(b)
(c)

TSX Inc.,
TSX Venture Exchange Inc., or
an exchange that

(i) has a policy that is substantially similar to the policy of the TSX Inc., and
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(2)

)

8.22.1

(1)

(2)

@)

(i) is designated by the securities regulatory authority for the purpose of this section;
“policy” means,

(a) in the case of TSX Inc., sections 638 and 639 [Odd lot selling and purchase arrangements] of the TSX
Company Manual, as amended from time to time,

(b) in the case of the TSX Venture Exchange Inc., Policy 5.7 Small Shareholder Selling and Purchase
Arrangements, as amended from time to time, or

(c) in the case of an exchange referred to in paragraph (c) of the definition of “exchange”, the rule, policy or other
similar instrument of the exchange on small shareholder selling and purchase arrangements.

The dealer registration requirement does not apply in respect of a trade by an issuer or its agent, in securities of the
issuer that are listed on an exchange, if all of the following apply:

(a) the trade is an act in furtherance of participation by the holders of the securities in an arrangement that is in
accordance with the policy of that exchange;

(b) the issuer and its agent do not provide advice to a security holder about the security holder’s participation in
the arrangement referred to in paragraph (a), other than a description of the arrangement’s operation,
procedures for participation in the arrangement, or both;

(c) the trade is made in accordance with the policy of that exchange, without resort to an exemption from, or
variation of, the significant subject matter of the policy;

(d) at the time of the trade after giving effect to a purchase under the arrangement, the market value of the
maximum number of securities that a security holder is permitted to hold in order to be eligible to participate in
the arrangement is not more than $25,000.

For the purposes of paragraph (2)(c), an exemption from, or variation of, the maximum number of securities that a
security holder is permitted to hold under a policy in order to be eligible to participate in the arrangement provided for in
the policy is not an exemption from, or variation of, the significant subject matter of the policy.

Short-term debt

In this section “short-term debt instrument” means a negotiable promissory note or commercial paper maturing not
more than one year from the date of issue.

Except in Ontario, the dealer registration requirement does not apply to any of the following in respect of a trade in a
short-term debt instrument with a permitted client:

(a) a bank listed in Schedule |, Il or 11l to the Bank Act (Canada);

(b) an association to which the Cooperative Credit Associations Act (Canada) applies or a central cooperative
credit society for which an order has been made under subsection 473 (1) of that Act;

(c) a loan corporation, trust company, trust corporation, insurance company, treasury branch, credit union, caisse
populaire, financial services cooperative or credit union league or federation that is authorized by a statute of
Canada or of a jurisdiction in Canada to carry on business in Canada or in any jurisdiction in Canada, as the
case may be;

(d) the Business Development Bank of Canada;
The exemption under subsection (2) is not available to a person or company if the short-term debt instrument is

convertible or exchangeable into, or accompanied by a right to purchase, another security other than another short-
term debt instrument.

Note: In Ontario, an exemption from the dealer registration requirement similar to that in section 8.22.1 is provided under
section 35.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario).
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Division 2 Exemptions from adviser registration

8.22.2 General condition to adviser registration requirement exemptions

The exemptions in this Division are not available to a person or company if the person or company is registered in the local
jurisdiction in a category of registration that permits the person or company to act as an adviser in respect of the activities for
which the exemption is provided.

8.23 Dealer without discretionary authority

The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a registered dealer, or a dealing representative acting on behalf of the
dealer, that provides advice to a client if the advice is

(a) in connection with a trade in a security that the dealer and the representative are permitted to make under his,
her or its registration,

(b) provided by the representative, and

(c) not in respect of a managed account of the client.
8.24 IIROC members with discretionary authority
The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a registered dealer, or a dealing representative acting on behalf of the
dealer, that acts as an adviser in respect of a client's managed account if the registered dealer_is an investment dealer that is a

member of IIROC and the advising activities are conducted in accordance with the rules of IIROC.

8.25 Advising generally

(1) For the purposes of subsections (3) and (4), “financial or other interest” includes the following:
(a) ownership, beneficial or otherwise, in the security or in another security issued by the same issuer;
(b) an option in respect of the security or another security issued by the same issuer;
(c) a commission or other compensation received, or expected to be received, from any person or company in

connection with the trade in the security;
(d) a financial arrangement regarding the security with any person or company;
(e) a financial arrangement with any underwriter or other person or company who has any interest in the security.
(2) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company that acts as an adviser if the advice the
person or company provides does not purport to be tailored to the needs of the person or company receiving the
advice.
(3) If a person or company that is exempt under subsection (2) recommends buying, selling or holding a specified security,

a class of securities or the securities of a class of issuers in which any of the following has a financial or other interest,
the person or company must disclose the interest concurrently with providing the advice:

(a) the person or company;
(b) any partner, director or officer of the person or company;
(c) any other person or company that would be an insider of the first-mentioned person or company if the first-

mentioned person or company were a reporting issuer.
(4) If the financial or other interest of the person or company includes an interest in an option described in paragraph (b) of
the definition of “financial or other interest” in subsection (1), the disclosure required by subsection (3) must include a
description of the terms of the option.

(5) This section does not apply in Ontario.
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Note: In Ontario, measures similar to those in section 8.25 are in section 34 of the Securities Act (Ontario).

8.26 International adviser

(1) Despite section 1.2, in-Alberta; British Columbia, New Brunswick and Saskatchewan, a reference to “securities” in this
section excludes “exchange contracts”.

xchange pursuant to standardlzed terms determlned by the exchange and cleared b¥ a clearlng agenc¥

(2) In this section

“aggregate consolidated gross revenue” does not include the gross revenue of an affiliate of the adviser if the affiliate is
registered in a jurisdiction of Canada;

“foreign security” means

(a) a security issued by an issuer incorporated, formed or created under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction,
and
(b) a security issued by a government of a foreign jurisdiction;
(3) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an adviser to a

permitted client_in relation to a foreign security, other than a permitted client that is a person or company registered
under the securities legislation of a jurisdiction of Canada as an adviser or dealer, if the adviser does not advise that
client on securities ef-Canadian-issuersthat are not foreign securities, unless providing that advice is incidental to its
providing advice on a foreign security.

(4) The exemption under subsection (3) is not available unless all of the following apply:

(a)
(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

(f)

the adviser’s head office or principal place of business is in a foreign jurisdiction;

the adviser is registered in a category of registration, or operates under an exemption from registration, under
the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business is
located, that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as an adviser would permit it
to carry on in the local jurisdiction;

the adviser engages in the business of an adviser in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal
place of business is located;

as at the end of its most recently completed financial year, not more than 10% of the aggregate consolidated
gross revenue of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships was derived from the portfolio
management activities of the adviser, its affiliates and its affiliated partnerships in Canada;

before advising a client, the adviser notifies the client of all of the following:

(i) the adviser is not registered in the local jurisdiction to provide the advice described under subsection

3
(i) the foreign jurisdiction in which the adviser’s head office or principal place of business is located;
(iii) all or substantially all of the adviser’'s assets may be situated outside of Canada;
(iv) there may be difficulty enforcing legal rights against the adviser because of the above;
(v) the name and address of the adviser’s agent for service of process in the local jurisdiction;

the adviser has submitted to the securities regulatory authority a completed Form 31-103F2 Submission to
jurisdiction and appointment of agent for service.
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(5) A person or company that relied on the exemption in subsection (3) during the 12 month period preceding December 1
of a year must notify the regulator, or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority of that fact by December 1 of that
year.

(6) In Ontario, subsection (5) does not apply to a person or company that complies with the filing and fee payment
requirements applicable to an unregistered exempt international firm under Ontario Securities Commission Rule 13-502
Fees.

8.26.1 International sub-adviser
(1) The adviser registration requirement does not apply to a sub-adviser if all of the following apply:

(a) the obligations and duties of the sub-adviser are set out in a written agreement with the registered adviser or
registered dealer;

(b) the registered adviser or registered dealer has entered into a written agreement with its clients on whose
behalf investment advice is or portfolio management services are to be provided, agreeing to be responsible
for any loss that arises out of the failure of the sub-adviser

(i) to exercise the powers and discharge the duties of its office honestly, in good faith and in the best
interests of the registrant and each client of the registrant for whose benefit the advice is or portfolio
management services are to be provided, or

(ii) to exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in
the circumstances.

(2) The exemption under subsection (1) is not available unless all of the following apply:
(a) the sub-adviser’s head office or principal place of business is in a foreign jurisdiction;
(b) the sub-adviser is registered in a category of registration, or operates under an exemption from registration,

under the securities legislation of the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or principal place of business
is located, that permits it to carry on the activities in that jurisdiction that registration as an adviser would
permit it to carry on in the local jurisdiction;

(c) the sub-adviser engages in the business of an adviser in the foreign jurisdiction in which its head office or
principal place of business is located.

Division 3  Exemptions from investment fund manager registration
8.26.2 General condition to investment fund manager registration requirement exemptions

The exemptions in this Division are not available to a person or company if the person or company is registered in the local
jurisdiction as an investment fund manager.

8.27 Private investment club

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a person or company in respect of its acting as an
investment fund manager for an investment fund if all of the following apply:

(a) the fund has no more than 50 beneficial security holders;

(b) the fund does not seek and has never sought to borrow money from the public;

(c) the fund does not distribute and has never distributed its securities to the public;

(d) the fund does not pay or give any remuneration for investment management or administration advice in

respect of trades in securities, except normal brokerage fees;

(e) the fund, for the purpose of financing its operations, requires security holders to make contributions in
proportion to the value of the securities held by them.
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8.28

(1)

()

8.29

(1)

(2)

)

Capital accumulation plan

In this section

“capital accumulation plan” means a tax assisted investment or savings plan, including a defined contribution registered
pension plan, a group registered retirement savings plan, a group registered education savings plan, or a deferred
profit-sharing plan, that permits a plan member to make investment decisions among two or more investment options
offered within the plan, and in Québec and Manitoba, includes a simplified pension plan;

“plan member” means a person that has assets in a capital accumulation plan;

“plan sponsor’” means an employer, trustee, trade union or association or a combination of them that establishes a
capital accumulation plan, and includes a plan service provider to the extent that the plan sponsor has delegated its
responsibilities to the plan service provider; and

“plan service provider” means a person that provides services to a plan sponsor to design, establish, or operate a
capital accumulation plan.

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a plan sponsor or their plan service provider
in respect of activities related to a capital accumulation plan.

Private investment fund - loan and trust pools

The investment fund manager registration requirement does not apply to a trust company or trust corporation that
administers an investment fund if all of the following apply:

(a) the trust company or trust corporation is registered or authorized by an enactment of Canada or a jurisdiction
of Canada to carry on business in Canada or a jurisdiction of Canada;

(b) the fund has no promoter or investment fund manager other than the trust company or trust corporation;
(c) the fund commingles the money of different estates and trusts for the purpose of facilitating investment.
The exemption in subsection (1) is not available to a trust company or trust corporation registered under the laws of
Prince Edward Island unless it is also registered under the Trust and Loan Companies Act (Canada) or under

comparable legislation in another jurisdiction of Canada.

This section does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, section 35.1 of the Securities Act (Ontario) provides a general exemption from the registration requirement
for trust companies, trust corporations and other specified financial institutions.

Division 4  Mobility exemption — firms

8.30

Client mobility exemption — firms

The dealer registration requirement and the adviser registration requirement do not apply to a person or company if all of the
following apply:

(a) the person or company is registered as a dealer or adviser in its principal jurisdiction;

(b) the person or company does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than as it
is permitted to in its principal jurisdiction according to its registration;

(c) the person or company does not act as a dealer, underwriter or adviser in the local jurisdiction other than in
respect of 10 or fewer eligible clients;

(d) the person or company complies with Parts 13 Dealing with clients — individuals and firms and 14 Handling
client accounts — firms;

(e) the person or company deals fairly, honestly and in good faith in the course of its dealings with an eligible
client.
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Part9 Membership in a self-regulatory organization
9.1 IIROC membership for investment dealers

An investment dealer must not act as a dealer unless the investment dealer is a “dealer member”, as defined under the rules of
IIROC.

9.2 MFDA membership for mutual fund dealers

Except in Québec, a mutual fund dealer must not act as a dealer unless the mutual fund dealer is a “member”, as defined under
the rules of the MFDA.

9.3 Exemptions from certain requirements for IROC members
(1) Unless it is also registered as an investment fund manager, aregistered-firman investment dealer that is a member of
IIROC is exempt from the following requirements:
(a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];
(b) section 12.2 [subordination agreement];
(c) section 12.3 [insurance — dealer];
(d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];
(e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
(f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];
(9) section 12.11 [interim financial informationy;
(h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information — dealer];
0] subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];
@) section 13.3 [suitability];
(k) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];
(h section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];

(.1) section 13.15 [handling complaints];
(m) subsectionsubsections 14.2(2) to (6) [relationship disclosure information];

m.1 ion 14.2.1 [pre-tr: isclosure of char

(n) section 14.6 [holding client assets and investment fund assets in trusf];

(©) section 14.8 [securities subject to a safekeeping agreement]:[repealed)

(p) section-14-9-{securities-not subjectto-a-safekeeping-agreement][repealed]
(p.1) section 14.11.1 [determining market value];

(q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation];

r ion 14.14 n. men
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(1.1)

(2)

(2.1)

(s) section 14.14.1 [additional statements];

t tion 14.14.2 ri ition information;

ion 14.17 [r n char n her compensation];

Subsection (1) only applies to a registered firm in respect of a requirement specified in any of paragraphs (1)(a) to (gx)
if the registered firm complies with the corresponding IIROC provisions that are in effect.

If a-registered-firman investment dealer is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the
firm is exempt from the following requirements:

(a) section 12.3 [insurance — dealer];

(b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];

(c) section 12.12 [delivering financial information — dealer];

(d) subsection 13.2(3) [know your client];

(e) section 13.3 [suitability];

() section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];

(9) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
(h) section 13.15 [handling complaints];

0] subsectionsubsections 14.2(2) to (6) [relationship disclosure informationy;

i.1 tion 14.2.1 [pre-tr. isclosure of char

() section 14.6 [holding client assets and investment fund assets in trust];

(k) section-14-8{secutitios-subjectto-a-safekeeping-agreement];[repealed]
(————section-14-9-{securities-not subjectto-a-safekeeping-agreement}: repealed]
: ion 14.11.1 [d - el

(m) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation];

n tion 14.17 [rt n char n her compensation];

ion 14.18 [investmen rformance re

Subsection (2) only applies to a registered firm in respect of a requirement specified in any of paragraphs (2)(a) to (mg)
if the registered firm complies with the corresponding IIROC provisions that are in effect.
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(3) [repealed)]
(4) [repealed)]
(5) [repealed)]
(6) [repealed)]
9.4 Exemptions from certain requirements for MFDA members

1) Unless it is also registered as an exempt market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager, a
registered-firmmutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA is exempt from the following requirements:

(a) section 12.1 [capital requirements];

(b) section 12.2 [subordination agreement];

(c) section 12.3 [insurance — dealer];

(d) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];

(e) section 12.7 [notifying the regulator of a change, claim or cancellation];
(f) section 12.10 [annual financial statements];

(9) section 12.11 [interim financial information];

(h) section 12.12 [delivering financial information — dealer];

(i) section 13.3 [suitability];

) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];

(k) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
() section 13.15 [handling complaints];

(m) subseetionsubsections 14.2(2),(3) and (5.1) [relationship disclosure information;

m. tion 14.5. riti n h hel |ifi ian];
(n) section 14.6 [holding client assets and investment fund assets in trusf];

(o) section14-8-{securitios-subjectto-a-safekeeping-agreementl[repealed]
(p) section14-9{securities-notsubjectto-a-safekeeping-agreementrepealed]
(p.1) section 14.11.1 [determining market valuel;

(q) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation];
() section 14.14 [account statements];
(s) section 14.14.1 [additional statements];
t tion 14.14.2 ri ition informationy;
ion 14.17 [r n char n her compensation];
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(1.1)

(2)

(2.1)

)
(4)

ion 14.18 [investment perf o

w tion 14.1 ntent of investmen rformance r

Subsection (1) only applies to a registered firm in respect of a requirement specified in any of paragraphs (1)(a) to (gx)
if the registered firm complies with the corresponding MFDA provisions that are in effect.

If a registered firm_s a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer,
scholarship plan dealer or investment fund manager, the firm is exempt from the following requirements:

(a) section 12.3 [insurance — dealer];

(b) section 12.6 [global bonding or insurance];

(c) section 13.3 [suitability];

(d) section 13.12 [restriction on lending to clients];

(e) section 13.13 [disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money];
(f) section 13.15 [handling complaints];

(9) subsectionsubsections 14.2(2), (3) and (5.1) [relationship disclosure informationy;

A tion 14.2.1 [pre-tr. isclosure of char

(h) section 14.6 [holding client assets and investment fund assets in trust];
(i) section-14-8 {securities-subject-to-a-safekeeping-agreement}[repealed]
() . o1 . bi : ) . fed]

i.1 ion 14.11.1 rmining market valuel;

(k) section 14.12 [content and delivery of trade confirmation];
( . 417 : : joril:
m tion 14.18 [investmen rformance rt

n ion 14.1 ntent of investmen rformance r

Subsection (2) only applies to a registered firm in respect of a requirement specified in any of paragraphs (2)(a) to (ko)
if the registered firm complies with the corresponding MFDA provisions that are in effect.

Subsections (1) and (2) do not apply in Québec.
In Québec, the requirements listed in subsection (1),_except paragraph (1)(h), do not apply to a mutual fund dealer to

the extent equivalent requirements to those listed in subsection (1) are applicable to the mutual fund dealer under the
regulations in Québec.
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Part 10 Suspension and revocation of registration — firms
Division 1 When a firm’s registration is suspended

10.1 Failure to pay fees

(1) In this section, “annual fees” means

(a) in Alberta, the fees required under section 2.1 of the Schedule - Fees in Alta. Reg. 115/95 — Securities
Regulation,

(b) in British Columbia, the annual fees required under section 22 of the Securities Regulation, B.C. Reg. 196/97,

(c) in Manitoba, the fees required under paragraph 1.(2)(a) of the Manitoba Fee Regulation, M.R 491\88R,

(d) in New Brunswick, the fees required under section 2.2 (c) of Local Rule 11-501 Fees,

(e) in Newfoundland and Labrador, the fees required under section 143 of the Securities Act,

() in Nova Scotia, the fees required under Part XIV of the Regulations,

(9) in Northwest Territories, the fees required under sections 1(c) and 1(e) of the Securities Fee regulations, R-
066-2008;

(h) in Nunavut, the fees required under section 1(a) of the Schedule to R-003-2003 to the Securities Fee
regulation, R.R.N.W.T. 1990, ¢.20,

(i) in Prince Edward Island, the fees required under section 175 of the Securities Act R.S.P.E.I., Cap. S-3.1,

0 in Québec, the fees required under section 271.5 of the Québec Securities Regulation,

(k) in Saskatchewan, the annual registration fees required under section 176 of The Securities Regulations

(Saskatchewan), and
0] in Yukon, the fees required under O.I.C. 2009\66, pursuant to section 168 of the Securities Act.

(2) If a registered firm has not paid the annual fees by the 30th day after the date the annual fees were due, the
registration of the firm is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.2 If IROC membership is revoked or suspended

If IIROC revokes or suspends a registered firm’s membership, the firm’s registration in the category of investment dealer is
suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.3 If MFDA membership is revoked or suspended

Except in Québec, if the MFDA revokes or suspends a registered firm’s membership, the firm’s registration in the category of
mutual fund dealer is suspended until reinstated or revoked under securities legislation.

10.4 Activities not permitted while a firm’s registration is suspended

If a registered firm'’s registration in a category is suspended, the firm must not act as a dealer, an underwriter, an adviser, or an
investment fund manager, as the case may be, under that category.

Division 2 Revoking a firm’s registration
10.5 Revocation of a suspended registration — firm

If a registration has been suspended under this Part and it has not been reinstated, the registration is revoked on the 2
anniversary of the suspension.
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10.6

Exception for firms involved in a hearing or proceeding

Despite section 10.5, if a hearing or proceeding concerning a suspended registrant is commenced under securities legislation or
under the rules of an SRO, the registrant’s registration remains suspended.

10.7

Application of Part 10 in Ontario

Other than section 10.4 [activities not permitted while a firm’s registration is suspended)], this Part does not apply in Ontario.

and 10.

Note: In Ontario, measures governing suspension in section 29 of the Securities Act (Ontario) are similar to those in Parts 6

Part 11

Internal controls and systems

Division 1 Compliance

1.1

A registe

(1

(2)

)

(1

(2)

)

Compliance system

red firm must establish, maintain and apply policies and procedures that establish a system of controls and supervision
sufficient to

(a) provide reasonable assurance that the firm and each individual acting on its behalf complies with securities
legislation, and

(b) manage the risks associated with its business in accordance with prudent business practices.
Designating an ultimate designated person

A registered firm must designate an individual who is registered under securities legislation in the category of ultimate
designated person to perform the functions described in section 5.1 [responsibilities of the ultimate designated person].

A registered firm must designate an individual under subsection (1) who is one of the following:

(a) the chief executive officer of the registered firm or, if the firm does not have a chief executive officer, an
individual acting in a capacity similar to a chief executive officer;

(b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm;

(c) the officer in charge of a division of the registered firm, if the activity that requires the firm to register occurs
only within the division and the firm has significant other business activities.

If an individual who is registered as a registered firm’s ultimate designated person ceases to meet any of the conditions
listed in subsection (2), the registered firm must designate another individual to act as its ultimate designated person.

Designating a chief compliance officer

A registered firm must designate an individual who is registered under securities legislation in the category of chief
compliance officer to perform the functions described in section 5.2 [responsibilities of the chief compliance officer].

A registered firm must not designate an individual to act as the firm’s chief compliance officer unless the individual has
satisfied the applicable conditions in Part 3 Registration requirements — individuals and the individual is one of the
following:

(a) an officer or partner of the registered firm;

(b) the sole proprietor of the registered firm.

If an individual who is registered as a registered firm’s chief compliance officer ceases to meet any of the conditions
listed in subsection (2), the registered firm must designate another individual to act as its chief compliance officer.
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1.4

Providing access to the board of directors

A registered firm must permit its ultimate designated person and its chief compliance officer to directly access the firm’s board of
directors, or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm, at such times as the ultimate designated person or the chief
compliance officer may consider necessary or advisable in view of his or her responsibilities.

Division 2~ Books and records

11.5

(1)

(2)

(1

General requirements for records

A registered firm must maintain records to

(a) accurately record its business activities, financial affairs, and client transactions, and

(b) demonstrate the extent of the firm’s compliance with applicable requirements of securities legislation.
The records required under subsection (1) include, but are not limited to, records that do the following:

(a) permit timely creation and audit of financial statements and other financial information required to be filed or
delivered to the securities regulatory authority;

(b) permit determination of the registered firm’s capital position;

(c) demonstrate compliance with the registered firm’s capital and insurance requirements;

(d) demonstrate compliance with internal control procedures;

(e) demonstrate compliance with the firm’s policies and procedures;

() permit the identification and segregation of client cash, securities, and other property;

(9) identify all transactions conducted on behalf of the registered firm and each of its clients, including the parties

to the transaction and the terms of the purchase or sale;

(h) provide an audit trail for
(i) client instructions and orders, and
(ii) each trade transmitted or executed for a client or by the registered firm on its own behalf;
(i) permit the generation of account activity reports for clients;
0 provide securities pricing as may be required by securities legislation;
(k) document the opening of client accounts, including any agreements with clients;
) demonstrate compliance with sections 13.2 [know your client] and 13.3 [suitability];
(m) demonstrate compliance with complaint-handling requirements;
(n) document correspondence with clients;
(o) document compliance and supervision actions taken by the firm.

Form, accessibility and retention of records
A registered firm must keep a record that it is required to keep under securities legislation
(a) for 7 years from the date the record is created,

(b) in a safe location and in a durable form, and
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(c) in a manner that permits it to be provided to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority in a
reasonable period of time.

(2) A record required to be provided to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority must be provided in a
format that is capable of being read by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority.

(3) Paragraph (1)(c) does not apply in Ontario.

Note: In Ontario, how quickly a registered firm is required to provide information to the regulator is addressed in subsection
19(3) of the Securities Act (Ontario).

Division 3  Certain business transactions

1.7 Tied settling of securities transactions

A registered firm must not require a person or company to settle that person's or company's transaction with the registered firm
through that person's or company's account at a Canadian financial institution as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a
reasonable person to be a condition, of supplying a product or service, unless this method of settlement would be, to a
reasonable person, necessary to provide the specific product or service that the person or company has requested.

11.8 Tied selling

A dealer, adviser or investment fund manager must not require another person or company

(a) to buy, sell or hold a security as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person to be a
condition, of supplying or continuing to supply a product or service, or

(b) to buy, sell or use a product or service as a condition, or on terms that would appear to a reasonable person
to be a condition, of buying or selling a security.

11.9 Registrant acquiring a registered firm’s securities or assets

(1) A registrant must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance with
subsection (2) if it proposes to acquire any of the following:

(a) for the first time, direct or indirect ownership, beneficial or otherwise, of 10% or more of the voting securities or
other securities convertible into voting securities of

(i) a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada or any foreign jurisdiction, or

(i) a person or company of which a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada or any foreign
jurisdiction is a subsidiary;

(b) all or a substantial part of the assets of a firm registered in any jurisdiction of Canada or any foreign
jurisdiction.
(2) The notice required under subsection (1) must be delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory

authority at least 30 days before the proposed acquisition and must include all relevant facts regarding the acquisition
sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the acquisition is

(a) likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,

(b) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
(c) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or

(d) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.

(3) [repealed)]

(4) Except in Ontario and British Columbia, if, within 30 days of the receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator
or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator or, in
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()

(6)

11.10

(1

(2)

)
(4)

)

(6)

(7

Québec, the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator
or the securities regulatory authority approves it.

In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the receipt of a notice under subparagraph (1)(a)(i) or paragraph (1)(b), the regulator
notifies the registrant making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur
until the regulator approves it.

Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (4) or (5), the person or company who submitted the notice
under subsection (1) may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter by the regulator or, in Québec, the
securities regulatory authority objecting to the acquisition.

Registered firm whose securities are acquired

A registered firm must give the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority written notice in accordance
with subsection (2) if it knows or has reason to believe that any person or company, alone or in combination with any
other person or company, is about to acquire, or has acquired, for the first time, direct or indirect ownership, beneficial
or otherwise, of 10% or more of the voting securities or other securities convertible into voting securities of any of the
following:

(a) the registered firm;

(b) a person or company of which the registered firm is a subsidiary.

The notice required under subsection (1) must,

(a) be delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible,
(b) include the name of each person or company involved in the acquisition, and
(c) include all facts that to the best of the registered firm’s knowledge after reasonable inquiry regarding the

acquisition are sufficient to enable the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to determine if the
acquisition is

0] likely to give rise to a conflict of interest,
(ii) likely to hinder the registered firm in complying with securities legislation,
(iii) inconsistent with an adequate level of investor protection, or
(iv) otherwise prejudicial to the public interest.
[repealed)]

This section does not apply if notice of the acquisition was provided under section 11.9 [registrant acquiring a
registered firm’s securities or assets].

Except in British Columbia and Ontario, if, within 30 days of the receipt of a notice under subsection (1), the regulator
or the securities regulatory authority notifies the person or company making the acquisition that the regulator or, in
Québec, the securities regulatory authority objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the regulator
or the securities regulatory authority approves it.

In Ontario, if, within 30 days of the receipt of a notice under paragraph (1)(a), the regulator notifies the person or
company making the acquisition that the regulator objects to the acquisition, the acquisition must not occur until the
regulator approves it.

Following receipt of a notice of objection under subsection (5) or (6), the person or company proposing to make the
acquisition may request an opportunity to be heard on the matter by the regulator or, in Québec, the securities
regulatory authority objecting to the acquisition.
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Part 12 Financial condition

Division 1 Working capital

121

(1

()

)

4)

5

(6)

12.2

(1

(2)

Capital requirements

If, at any time, the excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated in accordance with Form 31-103F1
Calculation of Excess Working Capital, is less than zero, the registered firm must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the
securities regulatory authority as soon as possible.

The excess working capital of a registered firm, as calculated in accordance with Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess
Working Capital, must not be less than zero for 2 consecutive days.

For the purpose of completing Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, the minimum capital is

(a) $25,000, for a registered adviser that is not also a registered dealer or a registered investment fund manager,
(b) $50,000, for a registered dealer that is not also a registered investment fund manager, and
(c) $100,000, for a registered investment fund manager.

Paragraph (3)(c) does not apply to a registered investment fund manager that is exempt from the dealer registration
requirement under section 8.6 [investment fund trades by adviser to managed account] in respect of all investment
funds for which it acts as adviser.

This section does not apply to aregistered-firman investment dealer that is a member of IIROC and is registered as an
investment fund manager if all of the following apply:

(a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than $100,000 as calculated in accordance with IIROC Form 1 Joint
Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report,

(b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any
time, the firm’s risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with IROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial
Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;

(c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with IROC Form 1 Joint Regulatory Financial
Questionnaire and Report, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.

This section does not apply to a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA if it is also registered as an exempt
market dealer, a scholarship plan dealer or an investment fund manager and if all of the following apply:

(a) the firm has a minimum capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial
Questionnaire and Report, of not less than

(i) $50,000, if the firm is registered as an exempt market dealer or scholarship plan dealer,
(i) $100,000, if the firm is registered as an investment fund manager;
(b) the firm notifies the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority as soon as possible if, at any

time, the firm’'s risk adjusted capital, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial
Questionnaire and Report is less than zero;

(c) the risk adjusted capital of the firm, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1 MFDA Financial
Questionnaire and Report, is not less than zero for 2 consecutive days.

Subordination agreement
If a registered firm has entered into a subordination agreement in the form set out in Appendix B, it may exclude the
amount of non-current related party debt subordinated under that agreement from the calculation of its excess working

capital on Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital.

The registered firm must deliver an executed copy of the subordination agreement referred to subsection (1) to the
regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority on the earliest of the following dates:
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)

(a) 10 days after the date on which the subordination agreement is executed;

(b) the date on which the amount of the subordinated debt is excluded from the registered firm’s non-current
related party debt as calculated on Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital.

The registered firm must notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority 10 days before it
(a) repays the loan or any part of the loan, or

(b) terminates the agreement.

Division 2 Insurance

123

(1

(2)

()
12.4

(1

(2)

)

Insurance — dealer

A registered dealer must maintain bonding or insurance

(a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
(b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.

A registered dealer must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in Appendix A in the highest
of the following amounts for each clause:

(a) $50,000 per employee, agent and dealing representative or $200,000, whichever is less;

(b) one per cent of the total client assets that the dealer holds or has access to, as calculated using the dealer’'s
most recent financial records, or $25,000,000, whichever is less;

(c) one per cent of the dealer’s total assets, as calculated using the dealer's most recent financial records, or
$25,000,000, whichever is less;

(d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the dealer's board of directors, or individuals
acting in a similar capacity for the firm.

In Québec, this section does not apply to a scholarship plan dealer or a mutual fund dealer registered only in Québec.
Insurance — adviser

A registered adviser must maintain bonding or insurance

(a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and

(b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.

A registered adviser that does not hold or have access to client assets must maintain bonding or insurance in respect
of each clause set out in Appendix A in the amount of $50,000 for each clause.

A registered adviser that holds or has access to client assets must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each
clause set out in Appendix A in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:

(a) one per cent of assets under management that the adviser holds or has access to, as calculated using the
adviser's most recent financial records, or $25,000,000, whichever is less;

(b) one per cent of the adviser’s total assets, as calculated using the adviser’'s most recent financial records, or
$25,000,000, whichever is less;

() $200,000;

(d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the adviser's board of directors or individuals
acting in a similar capacity for the firm.
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12.5 Insurance - investment fund manager
1) A registered investment fund manager must maintain bonding or insurance
(a) that contains the clauses set out in Appendix A [bonding and insurance clauses], and
(b) that provides for a double aggregate limit or a full reinstatement of coverage.
(2) A registered investment fund manager must maintain bonding or insurance in respect of each clause set out in

Appendix A in the highest of the following amounts for each clause:

(a) one per cent of assets under management, as calculated using the investment fund manager’s most recent
financial records, or $25,000,000, whichever is less;

(b) one per cent of the investment fund manager's total assets, as calculated using the investment fund
manager’s most recent financial records, or $25,000,000, whichever is less;

() $200,000;

(d) the amount determined to be appropriate by a resolution of the investment fund manager’s board of directors
or individuals acting in a similar capacity for the firm.

12.6 Global bonding or insurance
A registered firm must not maintain bonding or insurance under this Division that benefits, or names as an insured, another
person or company unless the bond provides, without regard to the claims, experience or any other factor referable to that other

person or company, the following:

(a) the registered firm has the right to claim directly against the insurer in respect of losses, and any payment or
satisfaction of those losses must be made directly to the registered firm;

(b) the individual or aggregate limits under the policy must only be affected by claims made by or on behalf of
0] the registered firm, or
(ii) a subsidiary of the registered firm whose financial results are consolidated with those of the

registered firm.
12.7 Notifying the regulator or the securities regulatory authority of a change, claim or cancellation

A registered firm must, as soon as possible, notify the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority in writing of any
change in, claim made under, or cancellation of any insurance policy required under this Division.

Division 3 Audits
12.8 Direction by the regulator or the securities regulatory authority to conduct an audit or review
A registered firm must direct its auditor in writing to conduct any audit or review required by the regulator or, in Québec, the
securities regulatory authority during its registration and must deliver a copy of the direction to the regulator or the securities
regulatory authority

(a) with its application for registration, and

(b) no later than the 10th day after the registered firm changes its auditor.

12.9 Co-operating with the auditor

A registrant must not withhold, destroy or conceal any information or documents or otherwise fail to cooperate with a reasonable
request made by an auditor of the registered firm in the course of an audit.
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Division 4 Financial reporting

12.10

(1)

(2)

12.11

(1)

(2)

12.12

(1)

(2)

(2.1)

Annual financial statements

Annual financial statements delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this
Division for financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 must include the following:

(a) a statement of comprehensive income, a statement of changes in equity and a statement of cash flows, each
prepared for the most recently completed financial year and the financial year immediately preceding the most
recently completed financial year, if any;

(b) a statement of financial position, signed by at least one director of the registered firm, as at the end of the
most recently completed financial year and the financial year immediately preceding the most recently
completed financial year, if any;

(c) notes to the financial statements.

The annual financial statements delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this
Division must be audited.

Interim financial information
Interim financial information delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this
Division for interim periods relating to financial years beginning on or after January 1, 2011 may be limited to the

following:

(a) a statement of comprehensive income for the 3-month period ending on the last day of the interim period and
for the same period of the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(b) a statement of financial position, signed by at least one director of the registered firm, as at the end of the
interim period and as at the end of the same interim period of the immediately preceding financial year, if any.

The interim financial information delivered to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority under this
Division must be prepared using the same accounting principles that the registered firm uses to prepare its annual
financial statements.

Delivering financial information — dealer

A registered dealer must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later
than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

(a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
(b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the dealer’s
excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding

financial year, if any.

A registered dealer must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later
than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial year:

(a) its interim financial information for the interim period;
(b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the dealer's
excess working capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding

interim period, if any.

If a registered firm_is a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an exempt market dealer
or scholarship plan dealer, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if all of the following apply:

(a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than $50,000 as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1
MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report;

(b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities requlatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1
MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 90" day after the end of its financial year, that
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shows the calculation of the firm’s risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of
the immediately preceding financial year, if any;

(c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1
MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30" day after the end of the first, second and
third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm’s risk adjusted capital as at the
end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.

(3) Subsection (2) does not apply to an exempt market dealer unless it is also registered in another category, other than
the portfolio manager or restricted portfolio manager category.

4 Despite paragraph (1)(b afirm registered only in Québec and soIeI in the category of mutual fund dealer may deliver
hr I hori later than th frh f its financial r, the Monthly R nN Fr
Apr ix_| of the Regulati h fi jal f

12.13 Delivering financial information — adviser

A registered adviser must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority no later
than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

(a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;

(b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the adviser's
excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately preceding
financial year, if any.

12.14 Delivering financial information — investment fund manager

1) A registered investment fund manager must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities
regulatory authority no later than the 90th day after the end of its financial year:

(a) its annual financial statements for the financial year;
(b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the investment
fund manager’s excess working capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of the immediately

preceding financial year, if any;

(c) a completed Form 31-103F4 Net Asset Value Adjustments if any net asset value adjustment has been made
in respect of an investment fund managed by the investment fund manager during the financial year.

(2) A registered investment fund manager must deliver the following to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities
regulatory authority no later than the 30th day after the end of the first, second and third interim period of its financial
year:

(a) its interim financial information for the interim period;

(b) a completed Form 31-103F1 Calculation of Excess Working Capital, showing the calculation of the investment
fund manager’s excess working capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately
preceding interim period, if any;

(c) a completed Form 31-103F4 Net Asset Value Adjustments if any net asset value adjustment has been made
in respect of an investment fund managed by the investment fund manager during the interim period.

(3) [repealed]
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(4) If aregistered-firman_investment dealer is a member of IIROC and is registered as an investment fund manager, the
firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if

(a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than $100,000, as calculated in accordance with IROC Form 1
Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report,

(b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1
Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 90" day after the end of its financial
year, that shows the calculation of the firm’s risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at
the end of the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and

(c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed IIROC Form 1
Joint Regulatory Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30" day after the end of the first,
second and third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm’s risk adjusted
capital as at the end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.

(5) If a registered firm_is_ a mutual fund dealer that is a member of the MFDA and is registered as an investment fund
manager, the firm is exempt from paragraphs (1)(b) and (2)(b) if

(a) the firm has a minimum capital of not less than $100,000, as calculated in accordance with MFDA Form 1
MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report,

(b) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities requlatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1
MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 90" day after the end of its financial year, that

shows the calculation of the firm’s risk adjusted capital as at the end of the financial year and as at the end of
the immediately preceding financial year, if any, and
(c) the firm delivers to the regulator or, in Québec, the securities regulatory authority a completed MFDA Form 1
MFDA Financial Questionnaire and Report, no later than the 30" day after the end of the first, second and
third interim period of its financial year, that shows the calculation of the firm’s risk adjusted capital as at the
end of the interim period and as at the end of the immediately preceding month, if any.
12.15 [lapsed]
Part 13 Dealing with clients — individuals and firms
Division 1 Know your client and suitability
13.1 Investment fund managers exempt from this Division
This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.
13.2 Know your client
1) For the purpose of paragraph 2(b) in Ontario, Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, “insider” has the meaning ascribed to
that term in the Securities Act except that “reporting issuer”, as it appears in the definition of “insider”, is to be read as
“reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly traded”.

(2) A registrant must take reasonable steps to

(a) establish the identity of a client and, if the registrant has cause for concern, make reasonable inquiries as to
the reputation of the client,

(b) establish whether the client is an insider of a reporting issuer or any other issuer whose securities are publicly
traded,
(c) ensure that it has sufficient information regarding all of the following to enable it to meet its obligations under

section 13.3 [suitability] or, if applicable, the suitability requirement imposed by an SRO:
(i) the client’s investment needs and objectives;

(ii) the client’s financial circumstances;
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)

(4)
®)
(6)

(7

13.3

(1

(2)

)
(4)

(iii) the client’s risk tolerance, and

(d) establish the creditworthiness of the client if the registered firm is financing the client’'s acquisition of a
security.

For the purpose of establishing the identity of a client that is a corporation, partnership or trust, the registrant must
establish the following:

(a) the nature of the client’s business;
(b) the identity of any individual who,

0] in the case of a corporation, is a beneficial owner of, or exercises direct or indirect control or direction
over, more than 25% of the voting rights attached to the outstanding voting securities of the
corporation, or

(i) in the case of a partnership or trust, exercises control over the affairs of the partnership or trust.

A registrant must take reasonable steps to keep the information required under this section current.

This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule Il bank.
Paragraph (2)(c) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if

(a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under subsections 13.3(1) and (2), and

(b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.

Paragraph (2)(b) does not apply to a registrant in respect of a client for which the registrant only trades securities
referred to in paragraphs 7.1(2)(b) and (2)(c).

Suitability

A registrant must take reasonable steps to ensure that, before it makes a recommendation to or accepts an instruction
from a client to buy or sell a security, or makes a purchase or sale of a security for a client's managed account, the
purchase or sale is suitable for the client.

If a client instructs a registrant to buy, sell or hold a security and in the registrant’s reasonable opinion following the
instruction would not be suitable for the client, the registrant must inform the client of the registrant’s opinion and must
not buy or sell the security unless the client instructs the registrant to proceed nonetheless.

This section does not apply if the client is a registered firm, a Canadian financial institution or a Schedule Il bank.

This section does not apply to a registrant in respect of a permitted client if

(a) the permitted client has waived, in writing, the requirements under this section, and

(b) the registrant does not act as an adviser in respect of a managed account of the permitted client.

Division 2 Conflicts of interest

13.4

(1)

(2)
(©)

Identifying and responding to conflicts of interest

A registered firm must take reasonable steps to identify existing material conflicts of interest, and material conflicts of
interest that the registered firm in its reasonable opinion would expect to arise, between the firm, including each
individual acting on the firm's behalf, and a client.

A registered firm must respond to an existing or potential conflict of interest identified under subsection (1).
If a reasonable investor would expect to be informed of a conflict of interest identified under subsection (1), the

registered firm must disclose, in a timely manner, the nature and extent of the conflict of interest to the client whose
interest conflicts with the interest identified.
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(4) This section does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of an investment fund that is subject to National
Instrument 81-107 Independent Review Committee for Investment Funds.

13.5 Restrictions on certain managed account transactions

(1) In this section, “responsible person” means, for a registered adviser,
(a) the adviser,
(b) a partner, director or officer of the adviser, and
(c) each of the following who has access to, or participates in formulating, an investment decision made on behalf

of a client of the adviser or advice to be given to a client of the adviser:

(i) an employee or agent of the adviser;
(i) an affiliate of the adviser;
(iii) partner, director, officer, employee or agent of an affiliate of the adviser.
(2) A registered adviser must not knowingly cause an investment portfolio managed by it, including an investment fund for

which it acts as an adviser, to do any of the following:

(a) purchase a security of an issuer in which a responsible person, or an associate of a responsible person is a
partner, officer or director unless

(i) this fact is disclosed to the client, and

(ii) the written consent of the client to the purchase is obtained before the purchase;
(b) purchase or sell a security from or to the investment portfolio of any of the following:

0] a responsible person;

(i) an associate of a responsible person;

(iii) an investment fund for which a responsible person acts as an adviser;
(c) provide a guarantee or loan to a responsible person or an associate of a responsible person.

13.6 Disclosure when recommending related or connected securities

A registered firm must not make a recommendation in any medium of communication to buy, sell or hold a security issued by the
registered firm, a security of a related issuer or, during the security’s distribution, a security of a connected issuer of the
registered firm, unless any of the following apply:

(a) the firm discloses, in the same medium of communication, the nature and extent of the relationship or
connection between the firm and the issuer;

(b) the recommendation is in respect of a security of a mutual fund, a scholarship plan, an educational plan or an
educational trust that is an affiliate of, or is managed by an affiliate of, the registered firm and the names of the
registered firm and the fund, plan or trust, as the case may be, are sufficiently similar to indicate that they are
affiliated.

Division 3  Referral arrangements
13.7 Definitions — referral arrangements
In this Division

“client” includes a prospective client;

“referral arrangement” means any arrangement in which a registrant agrees to pay or receive a referral fee;
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“referral fee” means any form of compensation, direct or indirect, paid for the referral of a client to or from a registrant.
13.8 Permitted referral arrangements

A registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not participate in a
referral arrangement with another person or company unless,

(a) before a client is referred by or to the registrant, the terms of the referral arrangement are set out in a written
agreement between the registered firm and the person or company;

(b) the registered firm records all referral fees, and
(c) the registrant ensures that the information prescribed by subsection 13.10(1) [disclosing referral arrangements
to clients] is provided to the client in writing before the party receiving the referral either opens an account for
the client or provides services to the client.
13.9 Verifying the qualifications of the person or company receiving the referral
A registered firm, or a registered individual whose registration is sponsored by the registered firm, must not refer a client to
another person or company unless the firm first takes reasonable steps to satisfy itself that the person or company has the
appropriate qualifications to provide the services, and if applicable, is registered to provide those services.

13.10 Disclosing referral arrangements to clients

(1) The written disclosure of the referral arrangement required by paragraph 13.8(c) [permitted referral arrangements] must
include the following:

(a) the name of each party to the agreement referred to in paragraph 13.8(a);

(b) the purpose and material terms of the agreement, including the nature of the services to be provided by each
party;

(c) any conflicts of interest resulting from the relationship between the parties to the agreement and from any

other element of the referral arrangement;

(d) the method of calculating the referral fee and, to the extent possible, the amount of the fee;

(e) the category of registration of each registrant that is a party to the agreement with a description of the
activities that the registrant is authorized to engage in under that category and, giving consideration to the

nature of the referral, the activities that the registrant is not permitted to engage in;

() if a referral is made to a registrant, a statement that all activity requiring registration resulting from the referral
arrangement will be provided by the registrant receiving the referral;

(9) any other information that a reasonable client would consider important in evaluating the referral arrangement.

(2) If there is a change to the information set out in subsection (1), the registrant must ensure that written disclosure of that
change is provided to each client affected by the change as soon as possible and no later than the 30th day before the
date on which a referral fee is next paid or received.

13.11  Referral arrangements before this Instrument came into force

(1) This Division applies to a referral arrangement entered into before this Instrument came into force if a referral fee is
paid under the referral arrangement after this Instrument comes into force.

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply until 6 months after this Instrument comes into force.
Division 4  Loans and margin
13.12 Restriction on lending to clients

(1) A registrant must not lend money, extend credit or provide margin to a client.
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(2) Notwithstanding subsection (1), an investment fund manager may lend money on a short term basis to an investment
fund it manages, if the loan is for the purpose of funding redemptions of its securities or meeting expenses incurred by
the investment fund in the normal course of its business.

13.13 Disclosure when recommending the use of borrowed money

(1) If a registrant recommends that a client should use borrowed money to finance any part of a purchase of a security, the
registrant must, before the purchase, provide the client with a written statement that is substantially similar to the
following:

“Using borrowed money to finance the purchase of securities involves greater risk than a purchase using cash resources only. If

you borrow money to purchase securities, your responsibility to repay the loan and pay interest as required by its terms remains

the same even if the value of the securities purchased declines.”

(2) Subsection (1) does not apply if one of the following applies:

(a) the registrant has provided the client with the statement described under subsection (1) no earlier than the
180th day before the date of the proposed purchase;

(b) [repealed)]
(c) the client is a permitted client.
Division 5  Complaints
13.14 Application of this Division
(1) This Division does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

(2) In Québec, a registered firm is deemed to comply with this Division if it complies with sections 168.1.1 to 168.1.3 of the
Securities Act (Québec).

13.15 Handling complaints

A registered firm must document and, in a manner that a reasonable investor would consider fair and effective, respond to each
complaint made to the registered firm about any product or service offered by the firm or a representative of the firm.

13.16 Dispute resolution service
(1) In this section,
"complaint" means a complaint that
(a) relates to a trading or advising activity of a registered firm or a representative of the firm, and

(b) is received by the firm within 6 years of the day when the client first knew or reasonably ought to have known
of an act or omission that is a cause of or contributed to the complaint;

"OBSI" means the Ombudsman for Banking Services and Investments.

(2) If a registered firm receives a complaint from a client, the firm must, as soon as possible, provide the client with a
written acknowledgement of the complaint that includes the following:

(a) a description of the firm's obligations under this section;

(b) the steps that the client must take in order for an independent dispute resolution or mediation service to be
made available to the client under subsection (4);

(c) the name of the independent dispute resolution or mediation service that will be made available to the client
under subsection (4) and contact information for the service.

(3) If a registered firm decides to reject a complaint or to make an offer to resolve a complaint, the firm must, as soon as
possible, provide the client with written notice of the decision and include the information referred to in subsection (2).
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(4) A registered firm must as soon as possible ensure that an independent dispute resolution or mediation service is made
available to a client at the firm's expense with respect to a complaint if either of the following apply:

(a) after 90 days of the firm's receipt of the complaint, the firm has not given the client written notice of a decision
under subsection (3), and the client has notified the independent dispute resolution or mediation service
specified under paragraph (2)(c) that the client wishes to have the complaint considered by the service;

(b) within 180 days of the client's receipt of written notice of the firm's decision under subsection (3), the client has
notified the independent dispute resolution or mediation service specified under paragraph (2)(c) that the
client wishes to have the complaint considered by the service.

(5) Subsection (4) does not apply unless the client agrees that any amount the client will claim for the purpose of the
independent dispute resolution or mediation service's consideration of the complaint will be no greater than $350,000.

(6) For the purposes of the requirement to make available an independent dispute resolution or mediation service under
subsection (4), a registered firm must take reasonable steps to ensure that OBSI will be the service that is made
available to the client.

(7) Subsection (6) does not apply in Québec.

(8) This section does not apply in respect of a complaint made by a permitted client that is not an individual.

Note: Amendments to Section 13.16 came into force on May 1, 2014. There are transition periods for firms registered before
May 1, 2014.

Except in Québec, if a dealer or adviser was registered before September 29, 2009 and a complaint was received by the firm
on or before August 1, 2014, section 13.16 does not apply in respect of that complaint.

If a dealer or adviser registered between September 29, 2009 and April 30, 2014 and a complaint was received by the firm on
or before August 1, 2014, in respect of that complaint, the dealer or adviser must comply with section 13.16 as it read on April
30, 2014

Division 6 — Registered sub-advisers

13.17 Exemption from certain requirements for registered sub-advisers

(1) A registered sub-adviser is exempt from the following requirements in respect of its activities as a sub-adviser:
(a) section 13.4 [identifying and responding to conflicts of interest];
(b) division 3 [referral arrangements] of Part 13;
(c) division 5 [complaints] of Part 13;
(d) section 14.3 [disclosure to clients about the fair allocation of investment opportunities];
(e) section 14.5 [notice to clients by non-resident registrants];
() section 14.14 [account statements];
Q) section 14.14.1 [additional statements];
h ion 14.14.2 l1l ition information;

0 . 418 [i : 1
(2) The exemption under subsection (1) is not available unless all of the following apply:

(a) the obligations and duties of the registered sub-adviser are set out in a written agreement with the sub-
adviser’s registered adviser or registered dealer;
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(b) the registered adviser or registered dealer has entered into a written agreement with its clients on whose
behalf investment advice is or portfolio management services are to be provided agreeing to be responsible
for any loss that arises out of the failure of the registered sub-adviser
0] to exercise the powers and discharge the duties of its office honestly, in good faith and in the best

interests of the registrant and each client of the registrant for whose benefit the advice is or portfolio
management services are to be provided, or

(i) to exercise the degree of care, diligence and skill that a reasonably prudent person would exercise in
the circumstances.

Part 14 Handling client accounts - firms
Division 1 Investment fund managers
141 Application of this Part to investment fund managers

Other than section 14.6, subsection 14.12(5) and section 14.15, this Part does not apply to an investment fund manager in
respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

Section 14.1 is modified as follows on July 15, 2016:

Other than sectionsections 14.1.1, seetion14.5.1, 14.5.2, 14.5.3 and 14.6, subsection 14.12(5) and section 14.15, this Part
does not apply to an investment fund manager in respect of its activities as an investment fund manager.

The following section comes into force on July 15, 2016:

14.1.1 Duty to provide information

A registered investment fund manager of an investment fund must, within a reasonable period of time, provide a registered
dealer ora reglstered adwser who has a cllent that owns securities of the investment fund, W|th the |nformat|0n eenee#mng

eeneepmhg—tramng—eemwuselens—patd%—the—deatepehadmep nown to the |nvestment fund manage that is reqU|red by the
dealer or adviser in order for the dealer or adviser to comply with paragraphsparagraph 14.12(1)(c)-and,_subsections 14.14(4)

and (5), 14.14.1(2) and 14.14.2(1) and paragraph 14.17(1)(h).

Division 2 Disclosure to clients
14.2 Relationship disclosure information

(1) A registered firm must deliver to a client all information that a reasonable investor would consider important about the
client's relationship with the registrant.

(2) Without limiting subsection (1), the information delivered under that subsection must include the following:

(a) a description of the nature or type of the client’s account;

dlsclosure regardlng where and the manner in WhICh the cllents assets are heId and therelevant assomated
risks and benefits to the client;

a.2 for reqistered firms that have access to client’'s assets, disclosure regarding where and the manner in which
he client’ re held, the manner in which the client’ r ibl he registered firm, an
he relevan i risks an nefi he client;

(b) a general description of the products and services the registered firm offers to the client;

(c) a general description of the types of risks that a client should consider when making an investment decision;

(d) a description of the risks to a client of using borrowed money to finance a purchase of a security;

(e) a description of the conflicts of interest that the registered firm is required to disclose to a client under

securities legislation;
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)

(4)

(5)
(5.1)

(6)
(7)

)

() disclosure of the operating charges the client might be required to pay related to the client’s account;
(9) a general description of the types of transaction charges the client might be required to pay;
(h) a general description of any compensation paid to the registered firm by any other party in relation to the

different types of products that a client may purchase through the registered firm;
0] a description of the content and frequency of reporting for each account or portfolio of a client;

3) disclosure of the firm's obligations if a client has a complaint contemplated under section 13.16 [di